Institute for Molecular Animal Breeding and Biotechnology, Gene Center Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the Ludwig-Maximilians University, Munich Prof. Dr. Eckhard Wof

Impaired Fertility in Transgenic Mice Overexpressing Betacellulin

Thesis for the attainment of the title of Doctor in Veterinary Medicine from the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the Ludwig-Maximilians University, Munich

by Ana Angélica Gratao from Ipameri, Brazil

Munich, 2007

Aus dem Institut für Tierzucht der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Universität München Lehrstuhl für Molekulare Tierzucht und Biotechnologie, Genzentrum Univ.-Prof. Dr. Eckhard Wof

Fruchtbarkeitsstörungen bei transgenen Mäusen, die Betacellulin überexprimieren

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der tiermedizinischen Doktorwürde der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> von Ana Angélica Gratao aus Ipameri, Brasilien

> > München, 2007

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Tierärztlichen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Dekan: Univ.-Prof. Dr. E. P. Märtlbauer Referent: Prof. Dr. Wolf Korreferent(en): PD. Dr. Neubauer

Tag der Promotion: 9. Februar 2007

Meinem Ehemann, Rudah Brentano Assef

CONTENTS

		Page
СС	ONTENTS	I
AE	BREVIATIONS	111
1.	INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES	1
2.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
	2.1 Growth Factors	3
	2.1.1 The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Ligands	4
	2.1.2 Betacellulin	5
	2.2 Female Reproduction	10
	2.2.1 Sexual Maturity	12
	2.2.2 Oocyte maturation and Ovulation	14
	2.2.3 Implantation	15
	2.2.3.1 Role of EGFR family members in implantation	16
	2.3 Male Reproduction	19
3.	ANIMALS, MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
	3.1. Animal Breeding	22
	3.2 Mouse genotyping	22
	3.3 Analysis of Body and Organs Weight	25
	3.4 Fertility Analysis	26
	3.5 Evaluation of female puberty onset and estrous cycle tracking	26
	3.6 Embryo Implantation studies	27
	3.7 Ovulation and Fertilization analysis	27
	3.8 Cumulus oocyte complex isolation and culture	27
	3.9 Sperm isolation and in vitro fertilization	28
	3.10 Sperm analysis	28
	3.11 Histological and Immunohistochemical studies	29
	3.12 Statistical analysis	29
4.	RESULTS	30
	4.1 Analysis of Body and Organs Weight	30
	4.2 Fertility measurements	31

	4.2.1 Males	31
	4.2.2 Females	31
	4.3 Evaluation of female puberty onset and estrous cycle tracking	32
	4.4 Embryo Implantation	34
	4.5 Ovulation and Fertilization analysis	35
	4.6 In vitro maturation	36
	4.7 In vitro fertilization	37
	4.8 Sperm analysis	38
	4.9 Immunohistochemical analysis	39
5.	DISCUSSION	41
	5.1 Males	41
	5.2 Females	43
	5.2.1 Fertility Analyses	43
	5.2.2 Female Puberty Onset and Estrous Cycle Tracking	43
	5.2.3 Embryo Implantation	44
	5.2.4 Ovulation and Fertilization Rates in vivo	45
	5.2.5 In vitro Maturation and Fertilization	46
6.	SUMMARY	48
7.	ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	50
8.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	53

ABBREVIATIONS

ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloprotease
AREG	Amphiregulin
BMP-15	Bone morphogenetic protein 15
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BTC	Betacellulin, protein, human
BTC	Betacellulin, gene, human
Btc	Betacellulin, protein, mouse
Btc	Betacellulin, gene, mouse
CCOs	Complexes Cumulus-Oocytes
DAB	diaminobenzidine
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DN–erbB4	Dominant-negative erbB4 receptor
dNTPs	deoxyribonucleoside triphosphates
E	Estrogen
E ₂	Estradiol
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EPGN	Epigen
ErbB1-4	Receptor tyrosine kinases 1-4
EREG	Epiregulin
Erk	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
ERα	Estrogen receptor
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone
GnRH	Gonadotropin releasing hormone
HBEGF	Heparin-binding EGF-like
hCG	Human chorionic gonadotropin
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
hTGFA	Human transforming growth factor- α
icv	Intracerebroventricular

IGF-I and II	Insulin-like growth factors I and II	
ILs	Interleukins	
IU	International unit	
LH	Luteinizing hormone	
LHRH	luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone	
MAP	mitogen-activated protein	
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase	
MEK	MAPK/ERK kinase	
ml	Milliliter	
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase	
mRNA	Messenger RNA	
NDFs	Heregulins/neu-differentiating factors	
NGF	Nerve growth factor	
NRG	Neuregulin	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction	
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor	
PGR	Progesterone receptor	
PGs	Prostaglandins	
PMSG	Pregnant mare serum gonadotropin	
PI3K/Akt	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase	
pro-BTC	BTC precursor	
RNA	Ribonucleic acid	
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase	
RT-PCR	Reverse Polymerase chain reaction	
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA	
TGFA	Transforming growth factor-α	
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β	
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor	
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor	
μΙ	microliter	

1. INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES

Cells exchange growth and differentiation signals through a repertoire of several diffusible polypeptides known generically as growth factors. Peptide growth factors are omnipresent molecules that coordinate every conceivable aspect of mammalian development, growth, physiology, and pathology. Peptide growth factors regulate critical cellular functions including stimulatory or inhibitory effects but also immune response or tumor growth. These molecules can regulate the cell function by autocrine, paracrine, juxtacrine or endocrine mechanisms (Sporn & Roberts 1988).

Many peptide growth factors have been isolated and characterized, including: Nerve Growth Factor (NGF), Insulin-Like Growth Factors (IGF-I and II), Platelet-Derived Growth Factors (PDGFs), Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF), Interleukins (ILs), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β) and Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) (James & Bradshaw 1984).

The epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like peptides are emerging as major players in regulating different aspects of animal and human physiology and pathology. The EGF family includes Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) itself, Transforming Growth Factor– α (TGFA), Heparin-binding Epidermal Growth Factor (HBEGF), Amphiregulin (AREG), Betacellulin (BTC), Epiregulin, (EREG) and Epigen (EPGN) (COHEN 1962; Derynck et al. 1984; Higashiyama et al. 1991; Shoyab et al. 1988; Shing et al. 1993; Toyoda et al. 1995; Strachan et al. 2001). The members of the EGF family bind and activate extracellular domains of a family of receptor called transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) (Ullrich et al. 1984; Yamamoto et al. 1986; Kraus et al. 1989; Plowman et al. 1993; Massague & Pandiella 1993; van der et al. 1994). RTKs play a fundamental role in the regulation and differentiation of cell growth, and one of the most researched RTK's family comprises the four receptors called ErbB1 (EGFR), ErbB2, ErbB3 and ErbB4 (Schlessinger & Ullrich 1992; Yarden & Sliwkowski 2001; Holbro & Hynes 2004).

The EGFR and its ligands elicit essential actions in reproduction. For instance, different Egfr ligands have been shown to be involved in oocyte maturation and ovulation (Park et al. 2004; Ashkenazi et al. 2005; Shimada et al. 2006; Yoshino et al. 2006), preimplantational embryonic development (Hardy & Spanos 2002), and implantation (Das et al. 1995; Raab et al. 1996; Das et al. 1997a; Das et al. 1997b; Das et al. 1997c; Paria et al. 1999).

Btc, a rather poorly characterized Egfr ligand, was initially isolated from the conditioned medium of a mouse pancreatic β -cell carcinoma cell line (Shing et al. 1993). Although, in many aspects, Btc reproduces the actions of other Egfr ligands, it has some unique structural and functional properties (reviewed in (Dunbar & Goddard 2000). Concerning reproduction, Btc was identified as one of the Egfr ligands expressed in the mouse uterus exclusively at the sites of blastocyst apposition at the time of attachment reaction (day 4) and through the early phase of implantation (day 5) (Das et al. 1997a). In addition, it was identified as a mediator of luteinizing hormone (LH) (Park et al. 2004; Ashkenazi et al. 2005; Hernandez-Gonzalez et al. 2006) and prostaglandins (PGs) and progesterone receptor PGR) (Shimada et al. 2006) actions in the ovulatory follicle. Finally, Btc was recently identified as a possible ovarian mediator of bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP-15) actions, an oocyte-specific growth factor that plays a major role in determining ovulation quota in mammals (Yoshino et al. 2006).

Although mice lacking Btc expression show no overt phenotype and appear to reproduce normally (Jackson et al. 2003), transgenic mice overexpressing the growth factor show a whole array of phenotypical alterations (Schneider et al. 2005). During the routine breeding of these mice in our animal facility we observed that Btc transgenic female and male mice, as compared with wild-type littermates, appeared to produce fewer pups per litter and had often non-productive matings. This observation led us to investigate the different stages of the reproductive process.

In the present investigation, we systematically studied different aspects of Btc transgenic female's and male's reproduction, including puberty initiation, ovulation, *in vivo* and *in vitro* oocyte maturation, sperm parameters, ovulation, *in vivo* and *in vitro* fertilization, and implantation in order to uncover the reason for their reduced fertility.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Growth Factors

Peptides with potent stimulatory or strong inhibitory effects on cell proliferation have been historically termed growth factors. Moreover, peptide growth factors regulate many other critical cellular functions that have little to do with growth itself, such as signal transduction, cell survival, differentiation, cell adhesion, cell migration, immune response, hematopoiesis, inflammation, tissue repair, atherosclerosis and cancer. Peptide growth factors provide an essential way for a cell to communicate with its immediate environment and to ensure that there is a proper local homeostatic balance between the numerous cells that comprise a tissue. The mechanism of local cellular regulation by classical endocrine molecules involves their interface with autocrine and paracrine mechanisms of action of peptide growth factors (Sporn & Roberts 1988).

Many peptide growth factor have been isolated and characterized, including: Nerve Growth Factor (NGF), Insulin-Like Growth Factors (IGF-I and II), Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF), Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF), Interleukins (ILs), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β) and Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) (James & Bradshaw 1984).

Many growth factors derive from soluble precursors that mature through proteolytic cleavage within the cell. Another class of growth factors is called membrane-anchored growth factors and the biological effects of these growth factors are exerted on the cell surface by interacting with the extracellular domains of transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) (Massague & Pandiella 1993; van der et al. 1994). RTKs play a fundamental role in the regulation of cell growth and differentiation. Ligand binding induces dimerization, activation of the intracellular kinase domain, and autophosphorylation by an intermolecular mechanism (COHEN 1962; Derynck et al. 1984; Holmes et al. 1992; Shing et al. 1993; Shoyab et al. 1988; Toyoda et al. 1995; Schlessinger & Ullrich 1992).

Peptide growth factor effects also depend on the stage of development or differentiation of its target cells. For example, the growth of fibroblasts from very early human embryos is stimulated by TGF- β , while the growth of fibroblasts from older embryos is inhibited by this peptide (Hill et al. 1986). Furthermore, it is clear that the

same growth factors that play a key role in the malignant process in cancer cells are expressed physiologically by cells that mediate inflammation and repair, namely platelets, macrophages, and lymphocytes (Sporn & Roberts 1986).

2.1.1 The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor and its Ligands

In 1962, Cohen reported the isolation of a polypeptide from the submaxillary gland of male mice that accelerated eyelid opening and incisor eruption in the newborn animal. This polypeptide, EGF, was subsequently isolated from extracts of this tissue as a high molecular weight form. Its effects on the cell include mitogenesis, nutrient transport, glycolysis and morphological changes (COHEN 1962; Taylor et al. 1970).

EGF turned out to be the founding member of a family of seven Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) ligands (Harris et al. 2003). The common structural domain shared by these family members is a 40–60 amino acid domain characterized by six cysteine residues forming three disulphide bonds (Savage, Jr. et al. 1973). EGF family members are transmembrane proteins that undergo proteolytic cleavage to release their mature form into extracellular space. Major sheddases are members of the ADAM (**a** disintegrin **a**nd **m**etalloprotease) family (Sahin et al. 2004).

The epidermal growth factor family includes Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF), Transforming Growth Factor– α (TGFA), Heparin-binding Epidermal Growth Factor (HBEGF), Amphiregulin (AREG), Betacellulin (BTC), Epiregulin, (EREG) and Epigen (EPGN) (COHEN 1962; Derynck et al. 1984; Holmes et al. 1992; Shing et al. 1993; Shoyab et al. 1988; Toyoda et al. 1995).

In addition to the EGFR, these growth factors also bind and activate the related tyrosine kinase receptors ErbB2 (neu), ErbB3 and ErbB4 (Ullrich et al. 1984; Yamamoto et al. 1986; Kraus et al. 1989; Plowman et al. 1993), (Figure 2.1). As typical RTKs, the ErbBs consist of an extracellular domain where ligand binding takes place, a short transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic region containing the catalytic protein tyrosine kinase (Schlessinger 2000). Ligand binding and subsequent dimerization stimulates the receptor enzymatic activity, resulting in phosphorylation of cytoplasmatic domains. These phosphorylated residues serve as docking sites for a variety of signaling molecules whose recruitment initiate a cascade of intracellular

signaling. Subsequently, the ligand-receptor complex is internalized and degraded within lysosomes (Yarden & Sliwkowski 2001).



Figure 2.1 EGFR ligands and the ErbB network. Ligands and the ten dimeric receptor combinations comprise the input layer. Numbers in each ligand block indicate the respective high-affinity ErbB receptors. For simplicity, specificities of receptor binding are shown only for BTC that possess the apparently unique property of activating the ErbB2/3 combination. ErbB2 binds no ligand with high affinity, and ErbB3 homodimers are catalytically inactive.

2.1.2 Betacellulin

Btc was initially described, purified and cloned from a mouse insulinoma cell line (Shing et al. 1993). In the same year, the human BTC cDNA was identified and characterized (Sasada et al. 1993). Subsequently it was characterized in the bovine species and in the rat (Dunbar et al. 1999; Tada et al. 2000).

The human BTC precursor (pro-BTC, Figure 2.2) encodes a 178 amino acid primary translation product and consists of:

- aa ¹³⁻²⁶, presumptive signal peptide;
- aa ²⁷⁻³¹, short propeptide;
- aa ³²⁻¹¹¹, mature BTC containing the EFG motif;
- aa ¹¹²⁻¹²⁴, short juxtamembrane domain;
- aa ¹²⁵⁻¹³⁸, hydrophobic transmembrane domain;
- aa ¹³⁹⁻¹⁷⁸, Cytoplasmic tail domain.

The single copy gene for mouse *Btc* maps to chromosome 5 and for human *BTC* to chromosome 4q13-q21 (Harris et al. 2003; Dunbar & Goddard 2000; Pathak et al. 1995). The structure of genes encoding *Btc* and others members of EGF family (*Tgfa, Areg, and Hbegf*) are highly conserved:

- exon 1, encodes the 5'UTR and signal peptide;
- exon 2, encodes the N-terminal precursor;
- exon 3, comprises the mature EGF, including the first two disulfide loops of the EGF motif;
- exon 4, comprises the third loop of the EGF-like motif and the transmembrane domain;
- exon 5, comprises the cytoplasmic region;
- exon 6, encodes the 3'UTR.



Figure 2.2 The domain structure of the pro-Btc.

The mature soluble form of mouse Btc consists of 80 amino acid residues and its molecular mass is 32 kDa. Btc is synthesized as a transmembrane precursor and its ectodomain is located in the extracellular domain. Due to this location, it is subject to proteolytic cleavage to produce a soluble mature growth factor (Figure 2.3). Reports suggest the role of metalloproteinases, MAP kinases and disintegrin in the processing of the ectodomain (Peschon et al. 1998; Izumi et al. 1998; Fan & Derynck 1999; Gechtman et al. 1999). Members of the ADAM family of enzymes have been identified as the main EGFR ligand sheddases (Sahin et al. 2004); (Tousseyn et al.

2006). Especially ADAM10 and ADAM17 are involved in the shedding of Egfr ligands. ADAM17 emerged as a constitutive sheddase of Tgfa, Areg, Hbegf, and Ereg, which is consistent with the essential role for ADAM17 in activation of the EGFR during development (Holbro & Hynes 2004). ADAM10 was found to be the major sheddase for Btc and Egf (Sahin et al. 2004).

Interestingly, BTC is a pan-ErbB ligand, capable of binding to ErbB1 and ErbB4 homodimers and all heterodimeric combinations including ErbB2/3 (Yarden & Sliwkowski 2001).



Figure 2.3 Schematic illustration of the structure of mature Btc (Dunbar & Goddard 2000).

Btc is expressed in a wide range of tissues in the mouse, with particularly high levels in the liver, kidney, pancreas, small intestine and uterus (Shing et al. 1993; Seno et al. 1996; Kojima et al. 2003). Btc has also been shown to be expressed in heart, lung, colon, testis and ovary (Seno et al. 1996). Btc expression in the gastric surface, jejunum and colon suggests an important role also in the gastrointestinal tract (Kallincos et al. 2000).

Btc is believed to play a major role in the physiology of the endocrine pancreas. For instance, Btc could convert pancreatic tumor cells into insulin-secreting cells and is required for the induction of insulin and glucokinase gene expression in glucagonoma cells (Mashima et al. 1996; Watada et al. 1996; Li et al. 2005).

Furthermore, Btc has been localized in primitive duct cells in fetal pancreas and some islet cell populations demonstrating a close association with insulin production (Tada et al. 1999). Evidence linking Btc and pancreas development was revealed by the administration of recombinant Btc resulting in improved glucose tolerance in mice with diabetes (Yamamoto et al. 2000). These findings can be associated with β -cell differentiation and regeneration from ductal or acinal cells.

Reflecting its wide expression *in vivo*, BTC expression has been detected in a variety of cultured cell lines. In many cases the addition of BTC causes altered cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and migration. Table 2.1 provides an overview of the reports describing these actions.

Btc was identified as one of the Egfr ligands expressed in the mouse uterus exclusively at the time of implantation (Das et al. 1997a). In addition, it was identified as a mediator of luteinizing hormone (LH) (Park et al. 2004; Ashkenazi et al. 2005; Hernandez-Gonzalez et al. 2006) prostaglandins (PGs) and progesterone receptor (PGR) (Shimada et al. 2006) actions in the ovulatory follicle and as a possible oocyte-specific growth factor (Yoshino et al. 2006).

Mice lacking *Btc* are viable, fertile and show no overt phenotype (Jackson et al. 2003). This is believed to be a consequence of functional redundancy within the family of Egfr ligands.

Transgenic mice overexpressing Btc ubiquitously exhibit a whole range of phenotypical alterations including high early postnatal mortality, impaired growth and reduced adult body weight, bone alterations, cataract and retinal problems, and pulmonary pathology (Schneider et al. 2005).

in vitro Culture	BTC expression and effects	Reference
Retinal pigment epithelial, canine kidney epithelial, and vascular smooth muscle cells	Stimulation of the cell proliferation	Shing <i>et al.</i> 1993
BALB/c 3T3 fibroblasts	Stimulation of the cell proliferation	Watanabe et al. 1994*
Keratinocytes	Transcriptionally up-regulated BTC, indicating a further role in the development of the neoplastic phenotype.	Dlugosz <i>et al.</i> 1995
Pancreatic AR42J cells	Conversion of the amylase-secreting cells to insulin-secreting cells	Mashima <i>et al</i> . 1996*
Breast tumor cell lines	Tyrosine phosphorylation of erB1 and erbB4; Growth stimulation of the mammary epithelial cells, 3 fold.	Beerli &Hynes 1996
PDX(+)αTC1.6	Induction of insulin gene expression	Watada et al. 1996
Pharyngeal carcinoma cells	Up-regulation of MMP-9 and increased tumor cell invasion.	O-Charoenrat <i>et al</i> . 2000a
Pharyngeal carcinoma cells	Expression of mRNAs and protein production	O-Charoenrat <i>et al</i> . 2000b
Pharyngeal carcinoma cells	Up-regulation of VEGF-A and VEGF-C transcript levels; Down-regulation of VEGF-D m RNA.	O-Charoenrat <i>et al</i> . 2000c
Human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells	Mitogenic activity	Tamura <i>et al.</i> 2001*
Sertoli cells	Increase DNA synthesis by the Sertoli cells.	Petersen et al. 2001
Middle ear epithelium	Hyperplasia of the middle ear mucosal epithelium	Palacios <i>et al.</i> 2001
Keratinocytes	Involvement in epidermal morphogenesis and/or in maintenance of the differentiated phenotype of psoriatic epidermis.	Piepkorn <i>et al</i> . 2003
Seminiferous tubule	Dose-dependent stimulatory effects on DNA synthesis.	Wahab-Wahlgren et al. 2003
Pharyngeal carcinoma cells	Induction of MMP-9 production and invasion primarily through activation of EGFR, MAPK and PI3K/Akt.	O-Charoenrat <i>et al.</i> 2004
Cumulus-oocyte complexes	Cumulus expansion and maturation	Park <i>et al.</i> 2004
Cumulus-oocyte complexes	Partial stimulation of the resumption of meiosis, activation of genes involved in cumulus expansion, and follicle rupture <i>in vitro</i>	Ashkenazi <i>et al</i> . 2005
Pancreatic ducts cells	Proliferation (spreading and monolayer formation) and phosphorylation of MEK1/2 and ERK1/2.	Rescan <i>et al.</i> 2005
Pancreatic β-cells	Differentiation and conversion of the β-cells to insulin-producing cells	Ogata <i>et al.</i> 2005**
Transdifferentiated β- cells	Increase insulin mRNA expression	Li <i>et al</i> . 2005

Table 2.1 Expression and effects of BTC on different cells culture lines.

*Recombinant human BTC, **BTC-δ4: splice isoform of BTC lacking a transmembrane domain

2.2 Female Reproduction

EGFR ligands have been shown to play a significant role in female reproductive functions in humans and animals, such as puberty onset, ovulation and implantation processes (Leach et al. 1999; Chobotova et al. 2002; Dey et al. 2004); (Hourvitz et al. 2006). Interestingly, they have also been implied in the development of cervical and endometrial cancer (Pfeiffer et al. 1997; Srinivasan et al. 1999).

Female sexual maturation requires the coordinated and timely activation of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) neurons. LHRH binds to specific receptors to stimulate the secretion of the gonadotropins LH and FSH and these hormones promote gonadal development and support reproductive physiology. One of these pathways uses the EGFR ligands and receptors. The functional integrity of both Egfr and erbB-4 signaling is critical for the time of puberty, while the suppression of Egfr activity during sexual differentiation in mice changes the time of puberty initiation (Apostolakis et al. 2000; Ojeda et al. 2003; Prevot et al. 2005).

Oocyte maturation and ovulation require several sequential events involving a timed secretion of hormones that can induce expression of EGF-like growth factors. Areg, Ereg, and Btc can also recapitulate the oocyte maturation *in vitro* (Richards 1994; Richards et al. 1995; Richards et al. 2002; Park et al. 2004).

In humans, due to the interest in infertility studies, the expression of growth factors in human endometrium has been extensively investigated. EGF, TGFA, AREG, BTC and the ErbBs were found to be expressed with a variation during the menstrual cycle, with maximal levels in the late secretory phase, when the endometrium becomes receptive, demonstrating an association with the implantation process (Imai et al. 1995; Srinivasan et al. 1999; Ejskjaer et al. 2005). In mice, multiple EGFR ligands are expressed around the time of blastocyst implantation, revealing a mechanism to assure implantation (Carson et al. 2000; Das et al. 1994b; Das et al. 1995; Das et al. 1997a; Lim et al. 1998).

The Table 2.2 gives an overview of the expression and actions of EGFR ligands in the female reproductive organs.

GFR-ligand	Expression	Effects	References
	Hypothalamus	Stimulation of the release of LHRH; Onset of puberty	(Plata-Salaman 1991; Kaser et al. 1992; Apostolakis et al. 2000)
	Endometrial epithelium	Growth differentiation	(Nelson et al. 1991)
EGF	Trophoblast	Implantation	(Hofmann et al. 1992)
	Endometrial epithelium	Endometrial proliferation, regulated by E ₂	(Huet-Hudson et al. 1990; Imai et al. 1995)
	Endometrium	Regulation of angiogenesis	(Moller et al. 2001)
	Luminal Epithelium	Uterine receptivity; Implantation (*)	(Das et al. 1994b; Birdsall et al. 1996; Raab et al. 1996; Paria et al. 1999; Paria et al. 2001; Lessey et al. 2002; Hamatani et al. 2004; Klonisch et al. 2001)
HBEGF	Stroma und glandular epithelium cells	Proliferation of stromal cells; Decidualization	(Chobotova et al. 2002; Chobotova et al. 2005)
	Deciduum and extravillous trophoblast	Implantation and trophoblast invasion	(Leach et al. 1999)
	Ovary	Mitogen for granulosa cells; maturation of the follicles	(Pan et al. 2004)
	Hypothalamus	Onset of puberty	(Ma et al. 1994)
	Luminal epithelium and peripheral stromal cells	Implantation	(Das et al. 1997b)
TGFA	Luminal, glandular and stromal cells	embryonic development, preparation of the uterus for implantation, and decidualization	(Tamada et al. 1991)
	Epithelial lining in human endometrium	Growth of endometrium	(Ejskjaer et al. 2005)
	Endometrial epithelium	Endometrial proliferation, regulated by E ₂	(Imai et al. 1995)
	Preovulatory follicles	Meiosis and Cumulus expansion	(Park et al. 2004)
	Luminal epithelium	Uterine receptivity, regulated by P4	(Das et al. 1995; Das et al. 1997b)
AREG			
	Leucocytes and stromal cells in human endometrium	Growth of endometrium	(Ejskjaer et al. 2005)

Table 2.2 Expression and actions of the EGFR-ligands in the female reproductive tract.

	Preovulatory follicles	Meiosis and Cumulus expansion	(Park et al. 2004)
	Luminal epithelium and underlying stroma	Implantation (*)	(Das et al. 1997a; Paria et al. 2000)
BTC	Placenta	Placental growth	(Maruo et al. 1995; Birdsall et al. 1996; Watanabe et al. 1994)
	Epithelial lining in human endometrium	Growth of endometrium	(Ejskjaer et al. 2005)
	Ovary	Involvement in ovulatory process	(Hourvitz et al. 2006; Yoshino et al. 2006; Woods & Johnson 2006)
	Preovulatory follicles	Meiosis and cumulus expansion	(Park et al. 2004)
	Luminal epithelium and Stroma	Implantation (*)	(Das et al. 1997a)
EREG	Stromal cells in human endometrium	Growth of endometrium	(Ejskjaer et al. 2005)
	Placenta	Maintenance/development of normal cell growth	(Toyoda et al. 1997)
	Ovary	Involvement in ovulatory process	(Hourvitz et al. 2006)

(*) proposed

2.2.1 Sexual maturity

The initiation of mammalian puberty requires the activation of hypothalamic neurons secreting the neuropeptide LHRH. LHRH stimulates the secretion of pituitary gonadotropins. Astrocytes affect LHRH neuronal function via cell-cell signaling mechanisms involving several growth factors acting via receptors with tyrosine kinase activity (Ojeda et al. 2000). Egf and Tgfa and their receptors are key players in the glial-neuronal interactive process that regulates LHRH secretion. Tgfa and Neuregulin (NRG) are produced in hypothalamic astrocytes and stimulate LHRH release indirectly via activation of their respective receptors, located on astrocytes. Activation of Egfr by Tgfa, and/or the erbB2/erbB4 receptor complex by Nrg, leads to E_2 , which then acts directly on LHRH neurons to stimulate LHRH release. A central blockade of *Tgfa* or *Nrg* action delays puberty, and focal overexpression of Tgfa advances it (Ojeda & Ma 1998).

The increase in pulsatile release of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) is very important in the puberty. Glial cells facilitate GnRH secretion via cell-cell

signaling loops mainly initiated by members of the EGF family. The control of these mechanism may involve the transcriptional regulation of subordinate genes that, by contributing to neuroendocrine maturation, are required for the initiation of the pubertal process (Ojeda et al. 2003).

Transgenic mice expressing a dominant-negative erbB4 receptor (DN–erbB4) were created to evaluate the function of the astrocytic ErbB receptors in the timely advent of puberty. The transgenic mice exhibit delayed sexual maturation and a diminished reproductive capacity in early adulthood. These abnormalities are related to a deficiency in pituitary gonadotropin hormone secretion, caused by impaired release of LHRH. Mice carrying both the *Wa-2* mutation (a defective Egfr) and a DN-erbB-4 mutant receptor exhibit a more pronounced delay in the onset of puberty and a dramatically impaired adult reproductive function in comparison to single-mutant mice and wild-type animals. These defects appear to be caused by loss of ErbB receptor-mediated astrocyte-to-neuron communication (Prevot et al. 2003; Prevot et al. 2005).

Tgfa is widely distributed in the nervous system, both glial and neuronal cells contributing to its synthesis, and have a neuronal participation in the control of female puberty. Tgfa contributes to the acceleration of puberty induced by anterior hypothalamic lesions. They also indicate that activation of *Tgfa* gene expression in glial cells is a component of the hypothalamic response to injury (Junier et al. 1991; Junier 2000).

Increased circulating levels of growth factors precede intracerebral aromatization of androgens to estrogen (E) during sexual differentiation and development (MacLusky & Naftolin 1981) and changes in E at the time of initiation of puberty (Ma et al. 1992). Indeed, the initiation of the puberty in females is dependent, in part, on activation of hypothalamic membrane-bound growth factor receptors (Ma et al. 1994). The absence of Egfr activity in mice delays the initiation of puberty and estrus cyclicity and the synchronization of mating behavior and estrous is disrupted. These findings demonstrate a greater role for growth factors in the adult brain. Rats and mice in the absence of E exhibit reproductive behavior 1 h after intracerebroventricular (icv) injection of Egf, Areg and Tgfa, demonstrating that growth factors can signal through the classical estrogen receptor (ER α) to alter *in vivo* function in rodent reproduction (Apostolakis et al. 2000).

In summary, while a central role for Egfr, ErbB4, Tgfa and Egf in the onset of female puberty and sexual maturity has been clearly demonstrated, no information is available about the role of Btc in this process.

2.2.2. Oocyte maturation and ovulation

Ovulation, initiated by the proestrus LH surge consists of several sequential follicular events involving enlargement of the antrum, expansion of the follicle and ovarian wall at the apex of the mature follicles and release of the fertilizable oocyte. This process involves a highly synchronized and exquisitely timed cascade of gene expression (Richards 1994, Richards et al. 1995, Richards et al. 2002). The LH analog hCG induces the transient and sequential expression of the EGF family members Areg, Ereg and Btc. An ovulatory dose of LH was shown to induce a rapid and transient expression of Btc mRNAs 1-3 h after the injection (Ashkenazi et al. 2005). The presence of EGF-like activity in follicular fluid (Hsu et al. 1987) supports this concept. Incubation of follicles with Areg, Ereg, and Btc recapitulates the morphological and biochemical events triggered by LH, including cumulus expansion and oocyte maturation (Park et al. 2004). Thus, these EGF-related growth factors are paracrine mediators that propagate the LH signal throughout the follicle.

A recently proposed model suggests that EGF family ligands, produced in a paracrine (Tgfa) or autocrine (Btc) fashion, bind with ErbB1 and/or ErbB4 receptors to activate Erk signaling that promotes enhanced expression of FSHR to initiate the process of granulosa cell differentiation subsequent to preovulatory follicle selection (Woods & Johnson 2006).

Btc and Ereg were shown to be expressed in an ovulation-dependent manner after an analysis of mouse preovulatory and postovulatory ovarian cDNA. (Hourvitz et al. 2006). In this interesting study, 43 of 98 cDNA clones showed a true ovulationselective/specific expression pattern. Btc was also recently identified as a possible ovarian mediator of bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP-15) actions, an oocytespecific growth factor that plays a major role in determining ovulation quota in mammals (Yoshino et al. 2006).

2.2.3 Implantation

In the mouse, the process of implantation can be classified into three stages: apposition, adhesion, and penetration. Apposition is the stage when embryonic trophectoderm cells become closely apposed to the uterine luminal epithelium. This is followed by the adhesion stage in which the association of the trophectoderm and the luminal epithelium is sufficiently intimate as to resist dislocation of the blastocyst by flushing the uterine lumen. The stage of penetration involves the invasion of the luminal epithelium by the trophectoderm. Stromal cell differentiation into decidual cells (decidualization) is more extensive, and the loss of the luminal epithelium is evident at this stage. These three stages of implantation form a continuum (Enders & Schlafke 1969; Schlafke & Enders 1975; Enders & Lopata 1999).

The attachment reaction coincides with a localized increase in stromal vascular permeability at the site of the blastocyst. This can be demonstrated by intravenous injection of a macromolecular blue dye resulting in discrete blue bands along the uterus (uterine blue reaction). Molecular signals coordinate the uterus receptivity and the interactions between the embryo and the uterus to initiate the process of implantation (Psychoyos 1973; Paria et al. 1993b; Lee & DeMayo 2004).

In mammals, the uterus differentiates into an altered state when blastocysts are capable of effective two-way communication to initiate the process of implantation. This state is termed uterine receptivity for implantation and lasts for a limited period, called window of implantation. At this stage, the uterine environment is able to support blastocyst growth, attachment, and the subsequent events of implantation (Paria et al. 1993b). The establishment of the receptive uterus to support embryo development and implantation is primarily coordinated by ovarian hormones, which modulate uterine events in a spatiotemporal manner. Estrogen and progesterone prime the uterus for implantation (Cross et al. 1994). In the mouse the attachment reaction occurs in the evening (22:00-24:00) of day 4 of pregnancy (Das et al. 1994b).

The expression of several growth factors, cytokines, and their receptors in the uterus in a temporal and cell-specific manner during the peri-implantation period suggests that these factors are important for implantation and that some of the effects of ovarian steroids in the implantation process are mediated by paracrine/juxtacrine effects of these growth factors (Paria et al. 1993b; Das et al.

1994b; Das et al. 1995; Carson et al. 2000; Paria et al. 2002; Lim et al. 2002; Norwitz et al. 2001).

The blastocyst and uterus generate various factors during implantation, but it is likely that the molecular "cross-talk" between them involves many more yet unknown factors. Indeed, it is more realistic to view the process of implantation as a condition of equilibrium in the up-regulation and down-regulation of a diverse set of genes. Identification of other essential regulatory steps is necessary to further understand the biologic basis for the establishment of pregnancy or the underlying causes of pregnancy failures. Many genes that are known to be associated with the implantation process fall into categories similar to the genes detected with increased expression at the implantation site, including growth factors/cytokines and their receptors, transcription factors, genes encoding structural proteins, or genes associated with cell proliferation. Genes with increased expression at the interimplantation site may act to guide the blastocyst to specific sites for implantation or be important for embryo spacing. 81 genes were reported with differential expression at the implantation site during both natural and induced implantation, suggesting their importance for implantation and some were members of the EGF family of growth factors that becomes intensely localized to the uterine luminal epithelium surrounding the blastocyst at the onset of implantation (Reese et al. 2001).

2.2.3.1 Role of EGFR family members in implantation

The expression of epidermal growth factor EGF-related ligands in the mouse uterus (Huet-Hudson et al. 1990; Tamada et al. 1991; Das et al. 1994b; Das et al. 1997a; Lim et al. 1998) and the Egfr and Erb-4 in the embryo (Paria & Dey 1990; Paria et al. 1993a; Wiley et al. 1992; Paria et al. 1999) suggests roles for these growth factors in embryo-uterine interactions during implantation. The expression of multiple receptors and ligands of the EGF family might be a protective mechanism to ensure the embryo development and implantation (Paria et al. 2000).

Hbegf gene is expressed in the mouse uterine luminal epithelium surrounding the blastocyst 6-7 hours before the attachment reaction that occurs at 22:00-23:00 hours on day 4 of pregnancy. *In vitro* studies showed that Hbegf induced blastocyst Egfr autophosphorylation, and promoted blastocyst growth, zona-hatching and trophoblast outgrowth. These results suggest possible interactions between the uterine Hbegf and blastocyst Egfr very early in the process of implantation, earlier than any other embryo-uterine interactions defined to date at the molecular level (Das et al. 1994b).

Areg mRNA levels display a transient surge throughout the uterine epithelium on day 4 of pregnancy. With the onset of blastocyst attachment late on day 4, Areg mRNA accumulated in the luminal epithelium exclusively at the sites of blastocysts (Das et al. 1995).

The cell-specific "window" of expression of Btc and Ereg in the periimplantation mouse uterus was also examined and it was demonstrated that both growth factors are expressed in the uterus exclusively at the sites of blastocyst apposition at the time of attachment reaction and during the initial phase of implantation. The distribution of Btc mRNAs in the peri-implantation uterus was examined by *in situ* hybridization on days 1-8 of pregnancy. Btc is present in the luminal epithelium and underlying the stroma at the site of blastocyst apposition at 23:00 on day 4 and on the morning of day 5 distinct autoradiographic signals was observed in an increased number of luminal epithelial and stromal cells. The expression of the *Ereg* gene was mostly similar to that of *Btc*, and both Btc and Ereg expression was not detected in implanting blastocysts (Das et al. 1997a).



Figure 2.4 A schematic diagram showing the expression of EGFR ligands in the periimplantation mouse uterus (days 1-8 pregnancy; M = morning; A = afternoon; N= night). Adapted from Das *et al.* (*Dev. Biol.* **190**, 178-190, 1997).

Interestingly, the inappropriate expression of a transgenic human TGFA in the uterus delays the initiation of the implantation process, which was associated with

downregulation of the TGF- β receptor subtypes and deferral of uterine AREG expression (Das et al. 1997b).

The implantation depends not only on maternal events, but also on the blastocyst itself. Transgenic mice with null allele *Egfr* did not cause a blockage in the blastocyst formation, although the inner cell mass were degenerated in the periimplantation period causing an embryonic death (Threadgill et al. 1995). This effect however, depends on the genetic background of the mouse strain.

The Egfr (erbB1) has been examined in several aspects during the periimplantation period. ErbB1 was detected in the stroma, deciduum, and myometrium, but not in the luminal or glandular epithelium. These observations are supportive of the concept of paracrine or juxtacrine interactions between EGF-related growth factor ligands of luminal epithelial origin and blastocyst Egfr in the process of implantation (Das et al. 1994a).

A model has been established that shows cooperative interaction among preimplantation embryos and the role of growth factors on their development and growth. The embryos cultured with the addition of Egf or Tgfa have their development improved. Detection of Egf receptors on the embryonic cell surface at eightcell/morula and blastocyst stages suggests beneficial effects of Egf on preimplantation embryo development and blastocyst functions. In the blastocyst, the binding was limited to trophectoderm. This study presents clear evidence that specific growth factors of embryonic and/or reproductive tract origin participate in preimplantation embryo development and blastocyst functions in an autocrine/paracrine manner. The mechanisms by which mitogenic and differentiating effects of EGF on preimplantation embryos are mediated are still unclear (Paria & Dey 1990).

The spatiotemporal uteroplacental expression pattern of the four ErbB receptors and their ligands was studied in the rabbit. The results provide evidence for the functional involvement of the Egf ligand-receptor system in embryo/feto-maternal cross-talk during the peri-implantation. Differential expression of Egfr-ErbB4 was observed in the trophoblast during implantation. Marked expression of ErbB1 mRNA and protein were observed in the cytotrophoblast of the embryonic trophectoderm, with the syncytiotrophoblast layer displaying weaker staining (Klonisch et al. 2001).

In vitro studies with human endometrial stromal cells had demonstrated that HBEGF has a function in endometrial maturation in mediating decidualization and

attenuating TNFA and TGF- β -induced apoptosis of endometrial stromal cells (Chobotova et al. 2005).

Placental growth is regulated by endocrine and local growth factors (Maruo et al. 1991) but little information is available regarding the expression of BTC in the placenta and uterus (Shing et al. 1993; Watanabe et al. 1994) and (Birdsall et al. 1996). A study was conducted to clarify the expression of Btc and its receptors, ErbB-1 and ErbB-4, in the trophoblasts in the human placenta over the course of pregnancy (4th to 5th, 6th to 12th, 18th to 21st, and 38th to 40th week placentas(Maruo et al. 1995). BTC from very early placentas until mid placentas was immunolocalized in syncytiotrophoblasts, and was most abundant in early placentas. The levels of BTC mRNA expression in early and mid placentas were significantly higher than those in term placentas. The levels of erbB-1 mRNA in the early and mid placentas were significantly higher than those in term placentas, whereas the levels of erbB-4 mRNA in early placentas were significantly lower than those in mid and term placentas, that shows evidence for changes in expression and cytological localization of BTC and its receptors in the trophoblasts in human placenta over the course of pregnancy. BTC may play a pivotal role as a local growth factor in promoting the differentiated villous trophoblastic function via ErbB-1 in early placentas and in contributing to placental growth through the maintenance of extravillous trophoblast cell function via ErbB-4 in term placentas (Maruo et al. 1995).

2.3 Male reproduction

In sharp contrast to the abundant data supporting an important role for the EGFR ligands in the female reproductive tract, only little information is available about their function in the male reproductive organs.

EGF was measured in the seminal plasma of human patients attending an infertility clinic. No correlation was found between EGF concentration (~ 40 ng/ml) and age of donor, sperm count, sperm motility, sperm morphology or period of sexual abstinence before sample collection. There was no significant variation in mean EGF levels between fertile and infertile men, suggesting that this peptide plays no role in the density or motility of sperm associated with fertility (Elson et al. 1984; Hirata et al. 1987; Richards et al. 1988).

The circulating Egf appears to play a role in mouse spermatogenesis since the removal of the submandibular glands decreased the amount of circulating Egf to an undetectable level and caused a marked decrease in the number of mature sperm and spermatids (55 and 50%, respectively) and the number of spermatocytes increased 20%. Replacement of Egf to sialoadenectomized mice reversed completely both the sperm content of the epididymis and the number of spermatogenesis and may cause some cases of infertility like unexplained oligospermia (Tsutsumi et al. 1986). Interestingly, infertile men had mean blood plasma EGF concentrations lower than that of the fertile group. There were also statistically significant differences between the fertile and infertile men in sperm count, sperm viability, mean forward progression, testosterone, LH and FSH (Adekunle et al. 2000).

Transgenic male mice overexpressing Egf show only few post-meiosis II gametes, are sterile and have reduced serum testosterone (Wong et al. 2000). This is in contrast to transgenic mice overexpressing Tgfa in the testis. These transgenic animals had no abnormal testicular morphology or alterations in spermatogenesis (Mullaney & Skinner 1992). Observations demonstrate that gene expression of Tgfa and its receptor is high during early pubertal stages when somatic cell growth is predominant and low at late pubertal stages when somatic cell proliferation is reduced. Tgfa can act as an autocrine/paracrine mitogen for the mesenchymalderived peritubular cell, while actions on the Sertoli cell population are not evident (Mullaney & Skinner 1992). Although Egf seems to be the major physiological ligand in germ cell development, mice with either single or triple null mutations in Eqf, Tgfa, and Areg did not display reduced fertility (Luetteke et al. 1999). DNA synthesis in rat testis seminiferous tubules in vitro was stimulated with the addition of Egf, Tgfa and Btc. RT-PCR analysis revealed that EGFR, erbB2, erbB3 and erbB4 were all expressed at every stage of the spermatogenic wave, whereas differential expression was found in isolated Leydig, Sertoli and peritubular cells. These results show that EGFR-ligands are spermatogonial growth factors in vitro, suggesting a paracrine control of spermatogenesis in vivo (Yan et al. 1998; Wahab-Wahlgren et al. 2003).

Expression of the EGF-like ligands EGF, TGFA, AREG, BTC, HBEGF and all four ErbB receptors was detected in the human and mouse prostate showing an evidence that ErbB signaling contributes to mouse prostate function (Adam et al. 1999; Zhu & Jones 2004). Finally, aberrant ErbB family signaling contributes to the

development and metastatic progression of human prostate cancer (Klapper et al. 2000).

3 ANIMALS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Animal Breeding

All animals were maintained under non-barrier conditions in the facilities of the Gene Center at 22°C, 65% humidity, and a 12 h light cycle and received standard food and water *ad libitum*. Mice used in expression studies and for phenotype analysis were weaned at an age of three weeks, marked by ear piercing and housed in cages separated by sex. At the time of weaning, tail tips were clipped and frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C for genotype analysis. The generation of the transgenic mice used in this study was described previously (Schneider et al. 2005).

3.2 Mouse genotyping

Proteinase K digests of mouse tail tips

Reagents:

EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid, 0.5 M, ph 8.0
Proteinase K Solution	20 mg/ml dissolved in bidistilled H_2O
Isopropanol	100%
Ethanol	70%

Wizard ® Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega) containing: Nuclei Lysis Solution RNase Solution Protein Precipitation Solution DNA Rehydration Solution

<u>Assay:</u>

Each tail tip was incubated in a 1.5 ml tube with 600 μ l of a solution containing 120 ml EDTA, 500 μ l Nuclei Lysis Solution and 17.5 μ l Proteinase K stock solution overnight at 56° C and with shaking. The next step was the addition of 3 μ l of RNase Solution. The samples were mixed by inverting 25 times and incubated for 20 min at 37°C. After cooling down to room temperature, 200 μ l of Protein Precipitation Solution was added to each sample. The samples were vortexed at high speed for 20 seconds, chilled on ice for 5 minutes and then centrifuged at 13,000 *g* x for 4 min. The supernatant was transferred into a clean tube containing 600 μ l isopropanol. The DNA became visible as a small white pellet by gentle shaking and was centrifuged at 13,000 x *g* for 2 min. After removing the supernatant, 600 μ l of 70% ethanol were added to wash the DNA and the tubes were inverted several times. A last centrifugation was made under the same conditions as above, the ethanol was removed and the DNA were rehydrated by incubating at 65°C for one hour.

Principle of the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

PCR is an *in vitro* method that allows up to a billion folds amplification of a selected DNA sequence. The reaction uses two oligonucleotide primers that hybridize two opposite strands and flank the target DNA sequence that is to be amplified. In the presence of deoxyribonucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs), a heat-stable DNA polymerase catalyzes the elongation of the primers. A repetitive series of cycles involving template denaturation, primer annealing, and extension of annealed primers by the polymerase results In exponential accumulation of the specific DNA fragment. Because the primer extension product synthesized in a given cycle can serve as a template in the next cycle, the number of target DNA copies increases exponentially corresponding to each cycle.

PCR protocol for detecting the BTC transgen sequence

Reagents:

Taq DNA polymerase Kit (Qiagen) containing:

PCR Buffer, 10x	trisCl, KCl, (NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄ , 15mM MgCl ₂ , pH 8.7 (20°C)
Q-Solution	5x concentrated
MgCl ₂	25Mm
Taq Polymerase	5U/µl, recombinant 94-kDa DNA polymerase, isolated
	from Thermus aquaticus, cloned in E. coli
dNTPs Set	100 Mm aqueous solutions of dATP, dCTP, dGTP and
	dTTP, each in a separated vial
Ethidium Bromide	0,1% solution in bidistilled H ₂ O
50x TAE running buffer	242 g Tris
	57,1 ml Glacial Acetic Acid
	100 ml EDTA, 0.5 M, ph 8.0
	Ad 1 I bidistilled H ₂ O
6x Loading Dye	30% Glycerol
	Bromophenol Blue

To confirm the integrity of the DNA, a sequence of the β -actin gene was amplified using the following primers:

For detection of the construct integration, following primers were use:

pTORUseq	5'-CTA CAG CTC CTG GGC AAC GTG-3'
globpA	5'- AGA TCT CAG TGG TAT TTG TGA GCC 3'

Assay procedure:

The 20 µl reaction was prepared in 100 µl PCR tubes on ice, containing: DNA template (about 50 ng/µl) 2 µl Sense primer ($2 \mu M$) 1 µl Antisense primer (2 µM) 1 µl dNTPs Mix (1 mM) 2 µl PCR Buffer, 10x 2 µI Q-Solution 4 µl $MgCl_2(25Mm)$ 1.25 µl Taq Polymerase, 5U/µl 0.1 µl Bidistilled H₂O 6.65µl

The amplification took place in a Biometra Uno Thermocycler and was performed as follows:

1 st step:	denaturation	94°C for 4 min
2 nd step:	denaturation	94°C for 1 min
3 rd step:	annealing	60°C for 1 min
4 th step:	extension	72°C for 2 min
5 th step:	extension	72°C for 10 min
6 th step:	cooling	4°C

Steps 2 to 4 were repeated 35 times before progression to steps 5 and 6 (36 cycles). PCR products were mixed with 6x loading buffer, separated in 2% agarose TAE gels with ethidium bromide and visualized under UV light.

3.3 Analysis of Body and Organ Weights

Body, ovary and uterus weight of control and transgenic females at the age of 2 months were recorded with a scale (BP221S, Sartorius, Germany). Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 g and ovary and uterus to the nearest mg.

3.4 Fertility Analyses

Most of the routine mouse breeding for expanding the Btc transgenic lines involved mating of transgenic males to control females. A retrospective analysis shows that the number of successful matings (77/157, 49%) and pups per litter (8.2 \pm 0.2) was significantly reduced as compared to non-transgenic age-matched males (11/11, 100% successful matings and 9.9 \pm 0.4 pups per litter). A few matings involving transgenic females paired to control males were performed sporadically and these matings also revealed a clear impairment in the reproductive performance of transgenic females: the number of successful matings (8/13, 61.5%) and pups per litter (5.7 \pm 0.8) was significantly reduced. Thus, we decided to initiate extensive experiments to systematically analyze the reproductive fitness of transgenic females.

In order to analyze their breeding performance, Btc transgenic mice (lines 2 and 4) and control mice were paired with wild-type mice of the opposite sex. The mating pairs were:

- WT ♀ x WT♂, n=3
- Line 2 BTC ♀ x WT ♂, n=5
- Line 4 BTC ♀ x WT ♂, n=5
- WT ♀ x Line 2 BTC ♂, n=4
- WT ♀ x Line 4 BTC ♂, n=5

All animals were 2 months old at the beginning of the experiment. Each mating pair was housed together exactly three months and the litters were removed at the age of 4 weeks. The litter size of each mating pair was averaged. The interval to the first litter and litter size development were recorded.

3.5 Evaluation of female puberty onset and estrous cycle tracking

Wild-type (n=3) and Btc transgenic (n=4) mice were observed daily from the time of weaning at 21 days for the appearance of a vaginal opening (the loss of the vaginal closure membrane at puberty). Once this occurred, daily histological analysis of vaginal smears was made. Estrous cycles were monitored during three consecutives cycles. The cycle's length was defined as the interval between proestrus smears and the onset of estrous cyclicity was defined as the first day of the first cycle less than or equal to 6 days in length (Nelson et al. 1990).

3.6 Embryo Implantation Studies

Wild-type (n=6) and Btc transgenic (n=11) mice were mated with fertile males and used to examine the attachment reaction and progression of the implantation process. By the end of the day 4 or day 5 of pregnancy they were injected intravenously (200 μ l/mouse) with a solution of Evans Blue dye (1% in PBS). Mice were killed 5 min after injection and blue bands along the uterus indicated the sites of blastocyst apposition (Das et al. 1994b). After the observation of the implantation sites the uterus were flushed to recover embryos that did not implant.

3.7 Ovulation and Fertilization Analysis

Female mice at 2 to 6 months of age were used for these experiments. Ovulation assays were performed with wild-type (n=15) and Btc transgenic (n=8) mice. Female were mated with wild-type vasectomized males. The females were examined every morning and evening for the presence of a copulatory plug (positive=day 0). The oviducts and ovaries were excised from mice and were placed into dishes containing medium (M2 supplemented with BSA). The cumulus-oocyte complexes (CCOs) were recovered by dissection of both ampullas on day 0.5. The number of ovulated oocytes was determined after enzymatic disassociation with 0.3 % hyluronidase from the surrounding cumulus. Fertilization assays were performed with wild-type (n=12) and Btc transgenic (n=7) female mice which were 2 to 6 months old. The females were mated with wild-type males with proved fertility. The methodology to detect copulatory plugs and the COCs collection was the same as described for determination of the ovulation rate. The fertilized oocytes (zygotes) were counted.

3.8 Cumulus-Oocyte Complex Isolation and Culture

Female mice, 2 to 6 months old, were induced to superovulate with pregnant mare serum gonadotropin (PMSG, Intergonan) and sacrificed 48 h later to obtain the immature oocytes. The ovaries were removed and stored in Opti-MEM medium

(Gibco, Grand Island, NY) with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS; Biochrom AG). Large antral follicles were punctured with 28 in. × 0.5 in. 18G syringe needles to release COCs. Only COCs that consisted of an oocyte surrounded by at least three complete layers of cumulus cells were selected for further culture. COCs were taken through three washes of Opti-MEM medium plus 10 IU/ml PMSG and 10% FCS before being cultured in groups of 20 in 80µl drops of preequilibrated medium and overlaid with silicone oil (Sigma) in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air at 37°C. These oocytes were cultured for 16 h. At the end of the culture period, COCs were removed from the drop and the oocyte denuded of cumulus cells by repeated gentle pipetting in medium containing 0.1% hyaluronidase (Sigma). Morphological changes of the cultured oocytes were evaluated and classified. Immature oocytes were classified as GV when the germinal vesicle (GV) was present, as metaphase I (MI) when GV was broken down, as metaphase II (MII) when the first polar body was extruded, and as degenerated when oocytes were dark, granulated, or fragmented. The degree of cumulus expansion was assessed according to a subjective scoring system, a scale of 0 (no expansion) to +4 (maximal expansion) (Yoshino et al. 2006).

3.9 Sperm isolation and *in vitro* fertilization

Sperm were collected from the *cauda epididymis* and *vasa deferentia* of fertile mice in IVF medium (Vitrolife). The percentages of motile and progressive spermatozoa and the sperm concentration were recorded. The oocytes were washed three times in the fertilization medium (IVF, Vitrolife) and placed in fertilization drops, where the spermatozoa were added with a concentration of 1×10^6 /ml. Six hours after fertilization, oocytes were denuded from the remaining cumulus cells by repeated gentle pipetting. We evaluated and classified the morphological changes of the zygotes, as appearance of two pronuclei and after 24 hours the cleavage.

3.10 Sperm Analysis

Sperm analyses were performed with wild-type (n=7) and Btc transgenic (n=11) males mice ranging from 3 to 5 months of age. After retro-orbital puncture for blood collection under ether anesthesia, the animals were killed by cervical dislocation. The two caudae epididymides and vasa deferentia were dissected and
placed into 0.9% NaCl in a 4-well dish (on ice). Under a microscope all remaining fat and visible blood vessels were removed with scissor. The epididymis was cut several times and the spermatozoa were left to swim out for 3-5 minutes at 37°C. The suspension was shacked carefully until the solution was homogenous. The sperm quality is checked using a computerized semen analysis system (IVOS, v 12.2, Hamilton Thorn Research, Beverly, MA). The percentage of motile and progressive sperm and concentration of sperm were recorded. We thank Dr. Auke Boersma (GSF) for the sperm analysis.

3.11 Histological and Immunohistochemical studies

Excised ovarian and uterus tissues were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, routinely processed for paraffin embedding, and serially sectioned at a thickness of 5 μ m. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and examined by light microscopy. Sections were deparaffinized and hydrated in PBS for 20 min. Blocking of endogenous peroxidase activity was achieved by incubation in 3% H₂O₂ in PBS for 10 min at 37°C. The sections were incubated with the primary antibody, a goat antimouse Btc antibody (R & D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany), for 1 h at 37°C. Then, the sections were rewashed in TBS (Tris-buffered saline) two times for 5 min and incubated with the secondary antibody, a biotinylated rabbit anti-goat Ig (Dako, Denmark). After immunostaining, sections were stained lightly with diaminobenzidine (DAB), mounted, and examined under a brightfield microscope. Red deposits indicated the sites of immunoreactive protein. IHC was kindly performed by Maik Dahlhoff and evaluated by Prof. Dr. Sinowatz (Institute of Veterinary Anatomy).

3.12 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using paired or unpaired Student's *t* tests to detect significant differences between transgenic and control mice. Values of p<0.05 were considered significant.

4 RESULTS

4.1 Analysis of Body and Organs Weight

To detect a possible effect of the Btc overexpression on the weight of uterus and ovaries, the weight of these organs in females at 2 months of age was recorded. Table 4.1 shows that in comparison with wild-type females, Btc transgenic females exhibited a lower body weight. The absolute weight of ovary and uterus did not differ significantly between the two genotypes. While the same was true for the relative weight of the uterus, an increase in the relative weight of the ovary in transgenic females was detected.

Table 4.1 Body weight and absolute and relative weights of the ovary and uterus of non-transgenic (wt) and Btc-transgenic (tg) females at the age of 2 months. The table shows the calculated mean values (standard deviation values are shown in brackets). A *t*-test was used to show the absence (-) or presence (*: P<0.05) of a statistically significant difference (Δ) between groups.

	Weight		% Body weight			
	wt	tg	Δ	wt	tg	Δ
Body (g)	22.86 (2.9)	19.67 (2.6)	*			
Uterus (mg)	78.1 (34)	81.6 (21)	-	0.35 (17)	0.42 (0.11)	-
Ovary (mg)	10.1 (3.9)	11.5 (2.8)	-	0.04 (0.01)	0,06 (0.01)	*
n	10	11				

4.2 Fertility measurements

4.2.1 Males

To study systematically the consequences of transgene expression on male and female fertility, Btc transgenic mice from Lines 2 and 4 were mated with wild-type animals.

In average, control litters consisted of 9.9 ± 0.3 pups, while L2 Btc and L4 Btc transgenic males produced an average litter size of 7.9 ± 0.8 ; and 8.0 ± 0.8 pups, respectively (p<0.05). The interval to the first litter was not significantly different between groups (Table 4.2).

Table 4.2 Mean values (\pm SEM) and statistical analysis of the results of the fertility measurements of BTC transgenic male's mice.

Parameter	Control	L2	L4
	(n=3)	(n=4)	(n=5)
Number of successful matings	3 (100%)	3 (80%)	5 (100%)
Number of litters/animal	4.3 ± 0.3	3.6 ± 0.3	2.6 ± 0.5
Interval to the first litter (days)	21.3 ± 0.6	21.0 ± 0.3	31.0 ± 3.6
Litter size	9.9 ± 0.3	7.9 ± 0.8 ^a	8.0 ± 0.8^{a}

^a *P* < 0.05

4.2.2 Females

Successive matings of Btc transgenic female mice with wild-type male mice revealed a decrease in litter size compared with litters produced by control mating. Control litters had an average size of 9.9 ± 0.3 pups, L2 Btc transgenic females gave birth to an average of 5.3 ± 0.7 pups/litter, and L4 Btc transgenic females had an average of 4.8 ± 0.5 pups/litter (p<0.001). The interval to the first litter was not significantly different between groups (Table 4.3).

Parameter	Control	L2	L4
	(n=3)	(n=5)	(n=5)
Number of successful matings	3 (100%)	5 (100%)	4 (80%)
Number of litters/animal	4.3 ± 0.3	2.8 ± 0.6	2.6 ± 0.5^{a}
Interval to the first litter (days)	21.3 ± 0.6	23.0 ± 1.0	23.4 ± 2.3
Litter size	9.9 ± 0.3	5.3 ± 0.7 ***	4.8 ± 0.5***
^a P = 0.0533			

Table 4.3 Mean values (\pm SEM) and statistical analysis of the results of the female's fertility study.

*** *P* < 0.001

Litter size development showed a significant difference between Btc transgenic females and controls females (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Litter size development. A reduction in the mean number of pups per litter in the second and third litters as compared to the first litter was observed in Btc transgenic females but not in control females (***P < 0.05).

4.3 Evaluation of female puberty onset and estrous cycle tracking

Vaginal opening, the first observable consequence of the rise in circulating E that accompanies the onset of puberty in rodents, occurred essentially at the same age in transgenic and non-transgenic females (days 24 to 26, data not shown). Similarly, the interval between vaginal opening and the first estrus was

undistinguishable between both genotypes (data not shown). The interval between vaginal opening and the onset of estrous cyclicity, which takes several days in normal mice, was slightly increased in the transgenic females, but the difference did not reach statistical significance (Figure 4.2A). Figure 4.2B shows the duration of the first 3 cycles, demonstrating that, although the first cycle was significantly longer in the transgenic group, this difference disappeared after the second cycle.



Figure 4.2 Evaluation of the onset of estrous cyclicity and cycle length in non-transgenic (wt, n=3) and transgenic animals (tg, n = 4). A) The interval between vaginal opening (VO) and estrous cyclicity (defined as the first day of the cycle with duration of 6 or less days) is not different between the groups. B) The first estrous cycle has a longer duration in transgenic females. Cyclicity is attained at the third cycle in both groups.

4.4 Embryo Implantation

In order to evaluate the kinetics of blastocyst attachment, plugged females were injected intravenously with a blue dye solution to make the implantation site visible (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 The attachment reaction. The left uterus is from a wild-type animal at 24:00 h on day 4 with the blue bands indicating the implantation sites. The right uterus with no visible blue sites is from a BTC transgenic female at the same time after copulation.

The attachment reaction was observed in all of the wild-type mice at 24:00h on day 4 of pregnancy and only 13 blastocysts were recovered. In contrast, none of the pregnant transgenic mice exhibited blue reaction at this time and many zonaenclosed and hatched blastocysts were recovered. At 9:00h on day 5 of pregnancy, 100% of the transgenic females showed attachment reaction and only a few embryos were recovered (Table 4.4).

wild-type lemales. Mile without blue sites of blastocysts were not included.				
		mice with implantation	implantation	embryos
day	genotype	sites (%)	sites (n)	recovered
4	wt (n=6)	6 (100)	51	13
4	tg (n=11)	0 (0)	0	53
5	tg (n=5)	5 (100)	22	8

Table 4.4 Initiation of blastocyst attachment reaction in transgenic and age-matched wild-type females. Mice without blue sites or blastocysts were not included.

Interestingly, the mean number of total embryos either attached to or recovered from the uterus of transgenic females at day 4 (53:11= 4.8) or day 5 (30:5= 6) was markedly reduced when compared to the number of embryos present in the uterus of control females at day 4 (64:6= 10.7). This finding is particularly informative since these values correspond quite well to the observed litter sizes in both groups. This observation strongly suggests that, although implantation delay is certainly a feature of Btc transgenic mice, it does not explain the reduction in the number of pups produced. The reason for this reduction must be found in processes taking place before implantation (ovulation or fertilization).

4.5 Ovulation and Fertilization analysis

To evaluate whether ovulation or fertilization rates were reduced in transgenic animals and could be responsible for the reduction in litter size, we mated transgenic and non-transgenic females with vasectomized non-transgenic males. As shown in Figure 4.4A, the number of ovulated oocytes obtained did not differ between the two genotypes. Next, to evaluate whether fertilization was impaired, we mated females from both genotypes to fertile, non-transgenic males and recorded the number of fertilized oocytes. While the mean number of ovulated oocytes was again similar in both groups, confirming our previous observation (data not shown), we observed a statistically significant (P=0.01) reduction in the percentage of fertilized oocytes in transgenic (54.7 ± 8.9 %) as compared to control (81.7 ± 5.3 %) females (Figure 4.4B). The mean number of fertilized oocytes observed in transgenic (41:7 = 5.8 ± 0.9) and control (119:12 = 9.9 ± 0.5) females is again extremely informative because it reflects quite closely the mean litter size observed in these groups. Thus, since no significant further embryonic losses will occur after this stage, we have identified impaired fertilization as the mechanism responsible for the reduction in the litter size.



Figure 4.4 Ovulation and fertilization rates. A) The mean number of ovulated oocytes is not different between control (n = 15) and transgenic (n = 8) animals. B) The proportion of fertilized oocytes is significantly reduced in transgenic females (n = 7) as compared to non-transgenic females (n = 12).

4.6 In vitro maturation

In this study, oocytes were isolated from control (n=11) and Btc transgenic females (n=15), and matured *in vitro*. After *in vitro* maturation, oocytes were classified, under a light microscope, as germinal vesicle (GV, Figure 4.5A), metaphase I (MI, Figure 4.5B), or metaphase II (MII, Figure 4.5C).

The percentage of oocytes matured to MII was significantly lower in the transgenic group as compared to control animals. Conversely, oocytes from transgenic females showed a higher rate of oocytes at MI, indicating a blockage or delay in the maturation process (Table 4.5).



Figure 4.5 Light micrographs of mouse oocytes at the germinal vesicle (**A**), metaphase I (**B**), and metaphase II (**C**) stages of nuclear maturation.

Table 4.5 Analysis of IVM oocytes from Btc transgenic (n=15) and control (n=11) mice. Values are the mean \pm SEM. Nuclear maturation and the degree of *cumulus* expansion were assessed after 16 hours of culture.

	Oocytes	IVM			
Genotype	employed	Metaphase I	Metaphase II	CE	
	n	n (%)	n (%)	(1 to 4)	
control	146	16 (9.8 ± 3)	129 (89.7 ± 3.1)	4	
transgenic	187	36 (19.4 ± 2.8)	150 (80.2 ± 2.6)	4	
Р		0.0327	0.0308		

The transgenic and wild-type animals had 1 degenerated oocyte each after IVM. CE = cumulus expansion; Metaphase I = neither GV nor polar body; Metaphase II = 1^{st} polar body present.

4.7 *In vitro* fertilization

Our analysis of the *in vitro* fertilization rate, shown as the appearance of two pronuclei after 6 h of fertilization, revealed a reduction in the percentage of fertilized oocytes of the transgenic animals as compared with control animals. The cleavage

rate, evaluated 24 h after the fertilization, was also reduced in oocytes from transgenic mice (Table 4.6). Interestingly, in the transgenic group, the number of cleaved oocytes was higher than that of oocytes with 2 PN after IVF (82 vs. 75, see Table 4.6). This finding supports the idea of delayed oocyte maturation.

Table 4.6 Analysis of IVF of oocytes from Btc transgenic (n=11) and control (n=7) mice. Values are the mean \pm SEM. The observation of two pronuclei and the cleavage to a 2-cell stage were considered an indicative of successful fertilization and evaluated 6 and 24 hours after the IVF, respectively.

	Oocytes employed [–]	IVF		
Genotype		2 PN	Cleavage	
	n	n (%)	n (%)	
control	87	73 (87.4 ± 4.6)	71 (84.6 ± 5.6)	
transgenic	150	75 (50.6 ± 3.8)	82 (57.5 ± 5.1)	
Ρ		0.0001	0.0034	

2PN = 2 pronuclei present.

4.8 Sperm analysis

Although the fertility of Btc transgenic males appears to be impaired, these animals do not display evident alterations in sperm production. Analysis of sperm parameters in Btc transgenic males showed no difference compared with nontransgenic males (Table 4.7).

Table 4.7 Analysis of sperm parameters of Btc transgenic and control mice.

Genotype	Motility (%)	Progressivity (%)	Concentration (Mio./ml)
Wt mice	78.3±2.1 (7)	37.1±2.6 (7)	120.3±18.2 (7)
BTC tg mice	82.0±1.6 (11)	41.0±3.0 (11)	148.3±19.2 (11)

Values are the mean \pm SD, with the number of mice in parentheses.

4.9 Immunohistochemical analysis

Using Western blot analyses, we have previously detected increased levels of Btc expression in the ovary and uterus of transgenic females as compared to nontransgenic littermates (data not shown). Since our studies uncovered impaired fertilization as the reason behind the reduced litter size, we decided to study the expression pattern at the cellular level by employing immunohistochemistry. The results confirmed the Western blot analyses, showing increased levels of Btc expression in the uterus and ovary (Figure 4.6). Particularly interesting is the high Btc expression in granulosa and cumulus cells of the follicles of transgenic females (Figure 4.6f).

transgenic control b uterus oviduct е ovary

Figure 4.6 Immunohistochemistry of Btc mouse reproductive tract on day 0.5. Note the distribution of Btc in uterus and ovary from transgenic mouse (b, f). No immunostaining was noted when similar sections from wild-typ mice were used (a, c, e)

5 DISCUSSION

Gene targeting by homologous recombination in embryonic stem cells represents a powerful tool for evaluating gene function in whole organisms. Not infrequently, the targeted gene encodes a protein belonging to a family of molecules sharing structural and functional properties. In this case, gene deletion may be rather uninformative because the related proteins can compensate for the loss of the targeted proteins (a process called functional compensation). In this case, the opposite strategy, that means, increasing the expression levels of the gene of interest by means of overexpression may be a much more appropriate approach. This has been shown to be true for many families of peptides including the IGF binding proteins (Schneider et al. 2000; Wolf et al. 2005). Betacellulin, a member of a family of seven Egfr ligands is a further example. Mice lacking Btc develop normally, are fertile and display no overt phenotype (Jackson et al. 2003). Recently, transgenic mice overexpressing Btc were generated (Schneider et al. 2005). In addition to growth retardation, a variety of pathological alterations including cataract and abnormally shaped retinal layers, bone alterations and severe lung alterations, were observed. Thus, this model uncovers multiple consequences of Btc overexpression in vivo and provides a useful model for examining the effects of Btc excess on different organs. In the present study, Btc transgenic mice were employed to study the effects of increased growth factor levels in female and male reproduction. The observation of relatively ineffective matings involving transgenic females (non-productive matings and reduced litter size) during routine breeding led us to functionally evaluate the different stages of the reproductive process.

5.1 MALES

Retrospective analysis revealed that matings involving transgenic males were often unsuccessful. Systematic fertility measurements revealed that, although the mean number of litters produced and the interval to the first litter was unaltered, a significant reduction in the number of pups per litter was observed for transgenic males as compared to non-transgenic animals. Analyses of sperm parameters (concentration, motility, and progressive motility) failed to reveal any difference between transgenic and control age-matched males. Although an impairment of the fertilization rate is a probable explanation, an impairment of the early embryonic development or blastocyst attachment by increased levels of Btc in the seminal plasma of transgenic males cannot be excluded. Thus, the exact cause of the reproductive deficit of transgenic males remains to be determined.

Growth factors of different families have been shown to play a role in male reproduction (Bartke et al. 1999; Burns & Matzuk 2002; Cho et al. 2001; Camp et al. 2005). Particularly interesting are studies showing the effects of depleting circulating Egf by sialoadenectomy. After the sialoadenectomy a reduced spermatid count was observed and returned to normal with Egf treatment, suggesting a relationship between EGF and spermatogenesis (Tsutsumi et al. 1986; Liu et al. 1994). Increased testicular Egf concentrations have been shown in synchronized rat testes that were closed to the meiotic stages (Bartlett et al. 1990).

Egf seems to have a physiological role in germ cell development, as demonstrated by *in vitro* stimulation by Egf of spermatogonial proliferation in seminiferous tubules of adult rats (Yan et al. 1998; Wahab-Wahlgren et al. 2003). The first *in vivo* evidence that Egf overexpression can adversely affect spermatogenesis (hypospermatogenesis) was demonstrated by Wong and colleagues (Wong et al. 2000). This report demonstrated that the transgenic male mice overexpressing Egf had few post-meiosis II gametes, the animals were sterile and had reduced serum testosterone levels. Mice with either single or triple null mutations in Egf, Tgfa, and Areg did not show reduced fertility, raising the possibility of functional redundancy with Hbegf, Btc, and Ereg (Luetteke et al. 1999).

This study provides evidence that Btc overexpression does not negatively affect spermatogenesis, sperm motility, progression and concentration values. This observation is in agreement with a previous report that mice overexpressing Tgfa did not show abnormal testis morphology or spermatogenesis (Mullaney & Skinner 1992), suggesting that the growth factors may have different roles in spermatogenesis.

5.2 FEMALES

5.2.1 Fertility Analyses

Despite the extensive research and a lot of information obtained from *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, the precise roles of the Egfr ligands for female and male fertility remain largely undefined. As a first step, systematic fertility experiments were carried out and confirmed under controlled conditions that the litter size is significantly reduced when a transgenic female or male were paired with a control animal. Similarly to the effect observed in males, the major reproductive deficit of females was the litter size. The interval to the first litter was not altered. Interestingly, the litter size development was altered: the size of the second and the third litters was reduced as compared with the first litter.

An effect on litter size has not been reported so far for Btc or other Egfr ligands, while this is not an uncommon observation in other growth factor families. For instance, female transgenic mice overexpressing IGFBP-6 showed severe reproductive defects (Bienvenu et al. 2004). 5–20% of the IGFBP-6 transgenic females were sterile and the litter size of fertile transgenic females was small. Litters sired by transgenic males were in the normal range. The cause of the reproductive deficiency appeared to be an alteration of ovulation and a dramatic decrease in plasma LH concentrations, suggesting some hypothalamo-pituitary disorder resulting from hIGFBP-6 overexpression in the brain (Bienvenu et al. 2004).

5.2.2 Female Puberty Onset and Estrous Cycle Tracking

In mammals, puberty begins with a pulsatile release of GnRH, activation of hypothalamic neurons secreting LHRH and activation of hypothalamic membranebound growth factor receptors (Ma et al. 1994). An overexpression of Tgfa or a central blockade can delay puberty or advance it (Ojeda & Ma 1998; Ojeda et al. 2003; Junier 2000). Apostolakis and colleagues (Apostolakis et al. 2000) demonstrated that Egf, Areg and Tgfa can signal through the ERα and alter rodent reproduction. The absence of erbB4 in transgenic mice also delayed sexual maturation and a diminished reproductive capacity, related to impaired release of LHRH (Prevot et al. 2003; Prevot et al. 2005).

Our studies revealed that onset of puberty, evaluated by vaginal opening, was not different between Btc transgenic and non-transgenic animals. Furthermore, with the exception of a longer first estrous cycle, the transgenic females behaved quite similar to control females during the first weeks of puberty. Importantly, starting with the third cycle, the mean cycle length in both groups was shorter than 6 days in duration, the maximal cycle length considered normal for in different mouse strains (Nelson et al. 1990). Since body weight plays (at least partially) a role in triggering puberty, the longer first estrous cycles may be related to the fact that transgenic females have a lower body weight at the time of puberty as compared to control animals (Schneider et al. 2005). Collectively, these results indicate that, with the exception of a longer first estrous cycle, onset of puberty is, in essence, not affected in transgenic females.

5.2.3 Embryo Implantation

Attachment of the blastocyst to the uterine epithelium initiates the implantation process and is followed by locally increased vascular permeability which can be visualized in the mouse uterus as distinct blue bands after an intravenous injection of a blue dye solution (Reese et al. 2001). Several evidences strongly suggest an important role for Egfr in blastocyst attachment. Thus, Tgfa (Tamada et al. 1991); (Paria et al. 1994), Hbegf (Das et al. 1994b), Areg (Das et al. 1995) and Ereg and Btc (Das et al. 1997a) genes are expressed in the mouse uterus only at sites and timepoints relevant to the implantation process. Interestingly, the Egfr and ErbB4 are expressed in blastocysts (Paria et al. 1993a; Paria et al. 1999; Lim et al. 1998). Even more convincingly is the report of delayed blastocyst-attachment reaction in transgenic mice with timely inappropriate expression of Tgfa in the uterus (Das et al. 1997b). In this study, delayed implantation was associated with deferred expression of Areg, which is probably the most relevant Egfr ligand associated with blastocyst implantation. However Tgfa null mice are viable and fertile, showing that a possible compensatory mechanism by others Egfr ligands exists. In vitro experiments showing that Hbegf can stimulate embryo development and zona hatching provide further evidence for a role of this growth factor in the implantation process (Raab et al. 1996; Martin et al. 1998). Btc is present in the luminal epithelium and stroma of the mouse

uterus (Das et al. 1997a). However, its significance in implantation has not been studied so far.

The reduced fertility of Btc transgenic females could be attributed to one or more reproductive dysfunctions, such as a decreased ovulation, fertilization or implantation. In light of the abundant experimental data indicating an important role for Egfr ligands in this process, we evaluated whether the process of implantation was perturbed in these animals. Our studies revealed that delayed blastocyst implantation is certainly present in Btc transgenic mice. However, since the total number of embryos either attached (visualized as a blue band) or recovered from the uterus of transgenic females at day 4 or 5 is almost identical to the observed litter size, the reduction in the number of viable embryos did already take place at this stage. Consequently, the explanation for the reduced litter size must be disturbed ovulation or fertilization rates. Thus, we next evaluated whether these processes were negatively affected in transgenic females.

5.2.4 Ovulation and Fertilization Rates in vivo

The implantation process of the Btc transgenic mice was delayed, but this was not the explanation for the litter size reduction. For this reason, we decided to evaluate the processes taking place before the implantation that is ovulation and fertilization.

Recent studies have implicated selected Egfr ligands (including Btc) as paracrine mediators of LH actions in the ovulatory follicle (Hsieh et al. 2005; Conti et al. 2006). Specifically, LH stimulated the expression of Areg, Ereg and Btc in mouse preovulatory follicles, and these growth factors triggered meiosis and cumulus expansion (and the expression of genes associated with this process) in cultured follicles in a Egfr-dependent manner (Park et al. 2004; Ashkenazi et al. 2005). Recently, prostaglandin synthase 2 and progesterone receptor were identified as key molecules involved in this process (Shimada et al. 2006). These findings may help to explain the puzzling observation that, in spite of complex actions on the oocyte, granulosa and cumulus cells, LH receptor expression is restricted to mural granulosa cells (Peng et al. 1991). Importantly, at least for Ereg, the release of the soluble form into the follicular fluid by protease-dependent shedding appears to be essential for this effect (Ashkenazi et al. 2005). Tgfa and Btc can activate the Erk signaling

pathway, which promotes the initialization of the differentiation of granulosa cells subsequent to preovulatory follicle selection (Woods & Johnson 2006). Recently, Yoshino and colleagues showed that Btc expression is increased by treatment of cumulus cells with bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP-15), an oocyte-specific growth factor that plays a major role in determining ovulation quota in mammals (Yoshino et al. 2006). This is an interesting finding because female mice lacking BMP-15, although exhibiting no obvious defects in folliculogenesis, produce oocytes with a reduced ability to develop into viable embryos (Yan et al. 2001).

We have evaluated the number of ovulated oocytes and observed that this rate did not differ between the transgenic and wild-type animals. However when fertilized oocytes were collected, a statistically significant reduction in the percentage of fertilized oocytes in transgenic as compared to control females was observed. Thus we have identified an impaired fertilization as the reason for the reduction in the litter size.

5.2.5 In vitro Maturation and Fertilization

To verify if the fertilization problem was due to an oocyte development competence we decided to determine the *in vitro* maturation rate of the Btc transgenic oocytes. Previous investigations showed that Areg, Epi, Hbegf and Btc, when added in the culture medium can also recapitulate the oocyte maturation *in vitro* (Richards 1994; Richards et al. 1995; Richards et al. 2002; Park et al. 2004; Pan et al. 2004).

Our studies revealed that the rate of oocytes showing germinal vesicle breakdown and reaching metaphase II after *in vitro* maturation was significantly reduced in Btc transgenic females as compared to control littermates. This observation can be attributed to a direct or indirect effect of a high expression of Btc in the transgenic *cumulus* cells (as demonstrated by immunohistochemistry). Thus, the reduced fertilization observed in Btc transgenic mice could be attributed to a maturation defect. Therefore, *in vitro* fertilization was employed to confirm the fertilization ability on the mature oocytes *in vitro*.

Our analysis of *in vitro* fertilization revealed a reduction in the percentage of fertilized oocytes of the transgenic animals as compared with control animals. This

result makes a negative influence of the oviduct during the fertilization process unlikely, uncovering a problem in the cumulus-oocyte complex itself.

The fact that the maturation of oocytes from transgenic animals is affected to a relatively low degree (about 10% less oocytes at MII) makes an impaired maturation an improbable explanation for the reduction in litter size (a decrease of about 50%). Thus, an impaired fertilization of the mature oocyte is the most likely explanation for the fertility defect of Btc transgenic females.

6 SUMMARY

Impaired fertility in transgenic mice overexpressing Betacellulin

Peptide growth factors regulate many cellular functions by autocrine, paracrine, juxtacrine or endocrine mechanisms. The epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like peptides are emerging as major players in regulating different aspects of animal and human physiology and pathology. The EGF family elicits essential actions in reproduction. For instance, different Egfr ligands have been shown to be involved in oocyte maturation and ovulation, preimplantational embryonic development, and implantation.

Btc, a member of the Egf family, was initially isolated from a mouse insulinoma cell line, and it is expressed in a wide range of tissues in the mouse, with particularly high levels in the heart, lung, liver, kidney, pancreas, small intestine, colon, testis, ovary and uterus. Btc was identified as one of the Egfr ligands expressed in the mouse uterus exclusively at the time of implantation and can also participate as a mediator of luteinizing hormone (LH), prostaglandins (PGs) and progesterone receptor (PGR).

Mice lacking *Btc* are viable, fertile and show no overt phenotype, but transgenic mice overexpressing Btc exhibit a whole array of phenotypical alterations.

In the present study, Btc transgenic mice were employed to study the effects of increased growth factor levels in female and male reproduction. The observation of relatively ineffective matings involving transgenic females (non-productive matings and reduced litter size) during routine breeding led us to functionally evaluate the different stages of the reproductive process.

The reduced fertility of Btc transgenic females could be attributed to one or more reproductive dysfunctions, such as a decreased ovulation, fertilization or implantation. Therefore, we have studied different aspects of Btc transgenic female's and male's reproduction, including puberty initiation, ovulation, *in vivo* and *in vitro* oocyte maturation, sperm parameters, *in vivo* and *in vitro* fertilization, and implantation in order to uncover the reason for their reduced fertility.

Successive matings of Btc transgenic males and females mice with wild-type mice revealed a decrease in litter size as compared with litters produced by control matings. However, the interval to the first litter was not significantly different between

groups. Litter size development showed a significant difference between Btc transgenic females and controls females. The onset of puberty occurred essentially at the same age in transgenic and non-transgenic females. The implantation of the Btc transgenic mice was delayed, but this was not the reason for the litter size reduction, because the mean number of total embryos either attached or recovered from the uterus of transgenic females was already markedly reduced when compared to the number of embryos present in the uterus of control females. For this reason, the explanation must be found in processes taking place before implantation (ovulation or fertilization). We evaluated the number of ovulated oocytes and observed that this parameter did not differ between the two genotypes, however, we observed a statistically significant reduction in the percentage of fertilized oocytes in transgenic as compared to control females, identifying the reason for the reduction in the litter size. Next, we carried out in vitro maturation of oocytes. The timing of nuclear maturation differed between transgenic and control oocytes. Therefore, we decided to evaluate the *in vitro* fertilization rate, which turned out to be impaired in the transgenic group. The expression pattern at the cellular level, studied by immunohistochemistry, revealed a high expression of Btc in the transgenic *cumulus* cells, which could be an explanation for the altered *in vivo* and *in vitro* fertilization.

Although the fertility of Btc transgenic males appears to be impaired, these animals do not display evident alterations in sperm production. This study provides evidence that Btc overexpression does not negatively affect spermatogenesis, sperm motility, progression and concentration values.

Future studies are needed to clarify whether the altered fertilization is in fact caused by the high expression of Btc in the transgenic *cumulus* cells. Furthermore, experiments involving the overexpression of a non-sheddable form of Btc are underway and will help to clarify the actions of precursor (membrane-bound) versus mature Egfr ligands during oocyte maturation and fertilization.

7 ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Fruchtbarkeitsstörungen bei transgenen Mäusen, die Betacellulin <u>überexprimieren</u>

Wachstumsfaktoren regulieren viele zelluläre Funktionen durch autokrine, parakrine, juxtakrine oder endokrine Mechanismen. Bei Mensch und Tier spielen die EGF- (epidermale Wachstumsfaktoren) ähnliche Peptide eine übergeordnete Rolle, weil sie in den unterschiedlichsten Bereichen von Physiologie und Pathologie Einfluss nehmen können. In der Fortpflanzung werden durch die EGF-Familie essentielle Mechanismen ausgelöst. Es konnte zum Beispiel gezeigt werden, dass unterschiedliche Egfr Liganden für die Oozytenentwicklung, deren Ovulation, in die präimplantative embryonale Entwicklung, und in die Implantation von Bedeutung sind.

Btc. ein Mitalied der Eqf Familie. wurde erstmals bei einer Mäuseinsulinomzelllinie beschrieben. Eine Btc-Expression kann in vielen Geweben der Maus nachgewiesen werden und weist ein besonders hohes Niveau im Herzen, in der Lunge, in der Leber, in der Niere, im Pankreas, im Dünndarm, im Dickdarm, im Hoden, im Eierstock und in der Gebärmutter auf. Es wurde festgestellt, dass Btc einer der Egfr Liganden ist, die in der Gebärmutter der Maus ausschließlich zur Zeit der Implantation exprimiert werden. Außerdem kann es als Mediatoren des luteinisierenden Hormons (LH), der Prostaglandine (PGs) und des Progesteron Rezeptors (PGR) fungieren.

Btc-knock-out Mäuse sind lebensfähig, fruchtbar und zeigen keinen offensichtlichen Phänotyp. Transgene Mäuse, die Btc überexprimieren, haben jedoch eine Reihe von phänotypischen Veränderungen.

In der vorliegenden Untersuchung wurden Btc-transgene Mäuse eingesetzt, um die Effekte eines erhöhten Spiegels dieses Wachstumfaktors in der weiblichen und männlichen Fortpflanzung zu studieren. Die Beobachtung, dass die Anpaarung von transgenen Weibchen im Rahmen der Routinezucht oft erfolglos (keine Trächtigkeiten oder verringerte Wurfgröße) war, veranlasste uns dazu die unterschiedlichen Stadien der Fortpflanzung funktionell auszuwerten.

Die verringerte Fruchtbarkeit der Btc-transgenen Weibchen kann mit einer oder mehreren reproduktiven Funktionsstörungen wie einer verringerten Ovulation,

Befruchtung und/oder Implantation zusammenhängen. Deswegen haben wir die unterschiedlichen Phasen in der weiblichen und männlichen Fortpflanzung der Btc-Mäuse untersucht. Um den Grund für ihre verringerte Fruchtbarkeit aufzudecken, wurde der Anfang der Pubertät, die Ovulation, die *in vivo* und *in vitro* Oozytenreifung, Spermienzellenparameter, die *in vivo* und in *vitro* Befruchtung und die Implantation untersucht.

Im Rahmen von aufeinanderfolgenden Anpaarungen (Daueranpaarungen) von Btc-transgenen Männchen und Weibchen mit Wildtyp-Mäusen konnte eine Reduzierung der Wurfgröße im Vergleich zu Würfen von Wildtyp-Anpaarungen errechnet werden. Die Intervalle zwischen Anpaarung und erstem Wurf unterschiede sich in den Gruppen nur unerheblich. Die Wurfgrößenentwicklungen im Laufe der Daueranpaarung von Btc-transgenen Weibchen zeigten jedoch erhebliche Unterschiede im Vergleich zu der von Wildtyp-Weibchen auf. Der Anfang der Pubertät trat im Wesentlichen im gleichen Alter bei transgenen und Wildtyp-Weibchen auf. Die Implantation in Btc-transgenen Mäusen war verzögert, das war allerdings nicht der Grund für die kleineren Wurfgrößen, da die Anzahl der implantierten oder aus der Gebärmutter gespülten Embryonen von transgenen Weibchen im Vergleich mit der Zahl der Embryonen aus wild-typ Weibchen bereits deutlich reduziert war. Somit musste die Erklärung für die verringerte Fruchtbarkeit in der Zeit vor der Implantation (Ovulation oder Befruchtung) gesucht werden. Wir werteten die Anzahl der ovulierten Oozyten (Ovulationsrate) aus und konnten hierbei keinen Unterschied zwischen den Genotypen feststellen. Da wir jedoch eine statistisch signifikante Reduktion des Anteils an befruchtetet Oozyten in transgenen, verglichen mit wild-typen Mäusen, beobachteten konnten, war damit eine mögliche Erklärung für die geringere Fruchtbarkeit und die verminderte Wurfgröße gefunden. Mittels in vitro Maturation konnte gezeigt werden, dass der Anteil an Oozyten im Meiose II Stadium in der transgenen Gruppe signifikant reduziert war. Die Auswertung der Befruchtungsrate nach in vitro Fertilization zeigte, dass auch dieser Parameter bei den transgenen Weibchen signifikant reduziert war. Das Expressionsmuster auf zellulärer Ebene, untersucht mittels Immunhistochemie, ergab eine hohe Expression von Btc in den transgenen Cumuluszellen. Dies könnte eine Erklärung für die gestörte in vivo und in vitro Befruchtung sein.

Diese Studie zeigt, dass eine Btc-Überexpression die Spermatogenese, Spermienzellenmotilität, progressive Motilität und die Konzentration der Spermien nicht negativ beeinflusst.

Zukünftige Studien müssen mögliche Zusammenhänge zwischen der hohen Expression von Btc in transgenen Cumuluszellen und der veränderten Befruchtungsfähigkeit abklären. Außerdem sind Experimente, die die Überexpression einer "non-sheddable" (nicht abspaltbar) Form von Btc berücksichtigen in Planung. Diese werden helfen, die Wirkung des membrangebundenen Precursorproteins im Vergleich zu reifen Egfr Liganden während der Oozytenreifung und der Befruchtung zu erklären.

8 BIBLIOGRAPHY

ADAM,R.M., BORER,J.G., WILLIAMS,J., EASTHAM,J.A., LOUGHLIN,K.R. & FREEMAN,M.R. (1999) Amphiregulin is coordinately expressed with heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor in the interstitial smooth muscle of the human prostate. *Endocrinology*, **140**, pp. 5866-5875.

ADEKUNLE, A.O., FALASE, E.A., AUSMANUS, M., KOPF, G.S., VAN ARSDALEN, K.N. & TEUSCHER, C. (2000) Comparative analysis of blood plasma epidermal growth factor concentrations, hormonal profiles and semen parameters of fertile and infertile males. *Afr.J.Med.Med.Sci.*, **29**, pp. 123-126.

APOSTOLAKIS, E.M., GARAI, J., LOHMANN, J.E., CLARK, J.H. & O'MALLEY, B.W. (2000) Epidermal growth factor activates reproductive behavior independent of ovarian steroids in female rodents. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **14**, pp. 1086-1098.

ASHKENAZI,H., CAO,X., MOTOLA,S., POPLIKER,M., CONTI,M. & TSAFRIRI,A. (2005) Epidermal growth factor family members: endogenous mediators of the ovulatory response. *Endocrinology*, **146**, pp. 77-84.

BARTKE,A., CHANDRASHEKAR,V., TURYN,D., STEGER,R.W., DEBELJUK,L., WINTERS,T.A., MATTISON,J.A., DANILOVICH,N.A., CROSON,W., WERNSING,D.R. & KOPCHICK,J.J. (1999) Effects of growth hormone overexpression and growth hormone resistance on neuroendocrine and reproductive functions in transgenic and knock-out mice. *Proc.Soc.Exp.Biol.Med.*, **222**, pp. 113-123.

BARTLETT, J.M., SPITERI-GRECH, J. & NIESCHLAG, E. (1990) Regulation of insulinlike growth factor I and stage-specific levels of epidermal growth factor in stage synchronized rat testes. *Endocrinology*, **127**, pp. 747-758.

BIENVENU,G., SEURIN,D., GRELLIER,P., FROMENT,P., BAUDRIMONT,M., MONGET,P., LE BOUC,Y. & BABAJKO,S. (2004) Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-6 transgenic mice: postnatal growth, brain development, and reproduction abnormalities. *Endocrinology*, **145**, pp. 2412-2420.

BIRDSALL,M.A., HOPKISSON,J.F., GRANT,K.E., BARLOW,D.H. & MARDON,H.J. (1996) Expression of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor messenger RNA in the human endometrium. *Mol.Hum.Reprod.*, **2**, pp. 31-34.

BURNS,K.H. & MATZUK,M.M. (2002) Minireview: genetic models for the study of gonadotropin actions. *Endocrinology*, **143**, pp. 2823-2835.

CAMP,E.R., SUMMY,J., BAUER,T.W., LIU,W., GALLICK,G.E. & ELLIS,L.M. (2005) Molecular mechanisms of resistance to therapies targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Clin.Cancer Res.*, **11**, pp. 397-405.

CARSON,D.D., BAGCHI,I., DEY,S.K., ENDERS,A.C., FAZLEABAS,A.T., LESSEY,B.A. & YOSHINAGA,K. (2000) Embryo implantation. *Dev.Biol.*, **223**, pp. 217-237.

CHO,B.N., MCMULLEN,M.L., PEI,L., YATES,C.J. & MAYO,K.E. (2001) Reproductive deficiencies in transgenic mice expressing the rat inhibin alpha-subunit gene. *Endocrinology*, **142**, pp. 4994-5004.

CHOBOTOVA,K., KARPOVICH,N., CARVER,J., MANEK,S., GULLICK,W.J., BARLOW,D.H. & MARDON,H.J. (2005) Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor and its receptors mediate decidualization and potentiate survival of human endometrial stromal cells. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab*, **90**, pp. 913-919.

CHOBOTOVA,K., MUCHMORE,M.E., CARVER,J., YOO,H.J., MANEK,S., GULLICK,W.J., BARLOW,D.H. & MARDON,H.J. (2002) The mitogenic potential of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor in the human endometrium is mediated by the epidermal growth factor receptor and is modulated by tumor necrosis factoralpha. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab*, **87**, pp. 5769-5777.

COHEN,S. (1962) Isolation of a mouse submaxillary gland protein accelerating incisor eruption and eyelid opening in the new-born animal. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **237**, pp. 1555-1562.

CONTI,M., HSIEH,M., PARK,J.Y. & SU,Y.Q. (2006) Role of the epidermal growth factor network in ovarian follicles. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **20**, pp. 715-723.

CROSS,J.C., WERB,Z. & FISHER,S.J. (1994) Implantation and the placenta: key pieces of the development puzzle. *Science*, **266**, pp. 1508-1518.

DAS,S.K., CHAKRABORTY,I., PARIA,B.C., WANG,X.N., PLOWMAN,G. & DEY,S.K. (1995) Amphiregulin is an implantation-specific and progesterone-regulated gene in the mouse uterus. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **9**, pp. 691-705.

DAS,S.K., DAS,N., WANG,J., LIM,H., SCHRYVER,B., PLOWMAN,G.D. & DEY,S.K. (1997a) Expression of betacellulin and epiregulin genes in the mouse uterus temporally by the blastocyst solely at the site of its apposition is coincident with the "window" of implantation. *Dev.Biol.*, **190**, pp. 178-190.

DAS,S.K., LIM,H., WANG,J., PARIA,B.C., BAZDRESCH,M. & DEY,S.K. (1997b) Inappropriate expression of human transforming growth factor (TGF)-alpha in the uterus of transgenic mouse causes downregulation of TGF-beta receptors and delays the blastocyst-attachment reaction. *J.Mol.Endocrinol.*, **18**, pp. 243-257.

DAS,S.K., TSUKAMURA,H., PARIA,B.C., ANDREWS,G.K. & DEY,S.K. (1994a) Differential expression of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF-R) gene and regulation of EGF-R bioactivity by progesterone and estrogen in the adult mouse uterus. *Endocrinology*, **134**, pp. 971-981.

DAS,S.K., WANG,X.N., PARIA,B.C., DAMM,D., ABRAHAM,J.A., KLAGSBRUN,M., ANDREWS,G.K. & DEY,S.K. (1994b) Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor gene is induced in the mouse uterus temporally by the blastocyst solely at the site of its apposition: a possible ligand for interaction with blastocyst EGF-receptor in implantation. *Development*, **120**, pp. 1071-1083.

DAS,S.K., YANO,S., WANG,J., EDWARDS,D.R., NAGASE,H. & DEY,S.K. (1997c) Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in the mouse uterus during the peri-implantation period. *Dev.Genet.*, **21**, pp. 44-54.

DERYNCK,R., ROBERTS,A.B., WINKLER,M.E., CHEN,E.Y. & GOEDDEL,D.V. (1984) Human transforming growth factor-alpha: precursor structure and expression in E. coli. *Cell*, **38**, pp. 287-297.

DEY,S.K., LIM,H., DAS,S.K., REESE,J., PARIA,B.C., DAIKOKU,T. & WANG,H. (2004) Molecular cues to implantation. *Endocr.Rev.*, **25**, pp. 341-373.

DUNBAR, A.J. & GODDARD, C. (2000) Structure-function and biological role of betacellulin. *Int.J.Biochem.Cell Biol.*, **32**, pp. 805-815.

DUNBAR,A.J., PRIEBE,I.K., BELFORD,D.A. & GODDARD,C. (1999) Identification of betacellulin as a major peptide growth factor in milk: purification, characterization and molecular cloning of bovine betacellulin. *Biochem.J.*, **344** Pt **3**, pp. 713-721.

EJSKJAER,K., SORENSEN,B.S., POULSEN,S.S., MOGENSEN,O., FORMAN,A. & NEXO,E. (2005) Expression of the epidermal growth factor system in human endometrium during the menstrual cycle. *Mol.Hum.Reprod.*, **11**, pp. 543-551.

ELSON,S.D., BROWNE,C.A. & THORBURN,G.D. (1984) Identification of epidermal growth factor-like activity in human male reproductive tissues and fluids. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab*, **58**, pp. 589-594.

ENDERS,A.C. & LOPATA,A. (1999) Implantation in the marmoset monkey: expansion of the early implantation site. *Anat.Rec.*, **256**, pp. 279-299.

ENDERS,A.C. & SCHLAFKE,S. (1969) Cytological aspects of trophoblast-uterine interaction in early implantation. *Am.J.Anat.*, **125**, pp. 1-29.

FAN,H. & DERYNCK,R. (1999) Ectodomain shedding of TGF-alpha and other transmembrane proteins is induced by receptor tyrosine kinase activation and MAP kinase signaling cascades. *EMBO J.*, **18**, pp. 6962-6972.

GECHTMAN,Z., ALONSO,J.L., RAAB,G., INGBER,D.E. & KLAGSBRUN,M. (1999) The shedding of membrane-anchored heparin-binding epidermal-like growth factor is regulated by the Raf/mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade and by cell adhesion and spreading. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **274**, pp. 28828-28835.

HAMATANI,T., DAIKOKU,T., WANG,H., MATSUMOTO,H., CARTER,M.G., KO,M.S. & DEY,S.K. (2004) Global gene expression analysis identifies molecular pathways distinguishing blastocyst dormancy and activation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **101**, pp. 10326-10331.

HARDY,K. & SPANOS,S. (2002) Growth factor expression and function in the human and mouse preimplantation embryo. *J.Endocrinol.*, **172**, pp. 221-236.

HARRIS,R.C., CHUNG,E. & COFFEY,R.J. (2003) EGF receptor ligands. *Exp.Cell Res.*, **284**, pp. 2-13.

HERNANDEZ-GONZALEZ,I., GONZALEZ-ROBAYNA,I., SHIMADA,M., WAYNE,C.M., OCHSNER,S.A., WHITE,L. & RICHARDS,J.S. (2006) Gene expression profiles of cumulus cell oocyte complexes during ovulation reveal cumulus cells express neuronal and immune-related genes: does this expand their role in the ovulation process? *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **20**, pp. 1300-1321.

HIGASHIYAMA,S., ABRAHAM,J.A., MILLER,J., FIDDES,J.C. & KLAGSBRUN,M. (1991) A heparin-binding growth factor secreted by macrophage-like cells that is related to EGF. *Science*, **251**, pp. 936-939.

HILL,D.J., STRAIN,A.J., ELSTOW,S.F., SWENNE,I. & MILNER,R.D. (1986) Bifunctional action of transforming growth factor-beta on DNA synthesis in early passage human fetal fibroblasts. *J.Cell Physiol*, **128**, pp. 322-328.

HIRATA,Y., UCHIHASHI,M., HAZAMA,M. & FUJITA,T. (1987) Epidermal growth factor in human seminal plasma. *Horm.Metab Res.*, **19**, pp. 35-37.

HOFMANN,G.E., DREWS,M.R., SCOTT,R.T., JR., NAVOT,D., HELLER,D. & DELIGDISCH,L. (1992) Epidermal growth factor and its receptor in human implantation trophoblast: immunohistochemical evidence for autocrine/paracrine function. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab*, **74**, pp. 981-988.

HOLBRO,T. & HYNES,N.E. (2004) ErbB receptors: directing key signaling networks throughout life. *Annu.Rev.Pharmacol.Toxicol.*, **44**, pp. 195-217.

HOLMES,W.E., SLIWKOWSKI,M.X., AKITA,R.W., HENZEL,W.J., LEE,J., PARK,J.W., YANSURA,D., ABADI,N., RAAB,H., LEWIS,G.D. & . (1992) Identification of heregulin, a specific activator of p185erbB2. *Science*, **256**, pp. 1205-1210.

HOURVITZ,A., GERSHON,E., HENNEBOLD,J.D., ELIZUR,S., MAMAN,E., BRENDLE,C., ADASHI,E.Y. & DEKEL,N. (2006) Ovulation-selective genes: the generation and characterization of an ovulatory-selective cDNA library. *J.Endocrinol.*, **188**, pp. 531-548.

HSIEH,M., BOERBOOM,D., SHIMADA,M., LO,Y., PARLOW,A.F., LUHMANN,U.F., BERGER,W. & RICHARDS,J.S. (2005) Mice null for Frizzled4 (Fzd4-/-) are infertile and exhibit impaired corpora lutea formation and function. *Biol.Reprod.*, **73**, pp. 1135-1146.

HSU,C.J., HOLMES,S.D. & HAMMOND,J.M. (1987) Ovarian epidermal growth factor-like activity. Concentrations in porcine follicular fluid during follicular enlargement. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.*, **147**, pp. 242-247.

HUET-HUDSON,Y.M., CHAKRABORTY,C., DE,S.K., SUZUKI,Y., ANDREWS,G.K. & DEY,S.K. (1990) Estrogen regulates the synthesis of epidermal growth factor in mouse uterine epithelial cells. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **4**, pp. 510-523.

IMAI,T., KURACHI,H., ADACHI,K., ADACHI,H., YOSHIMOTO,Y., HOMMA,H., TADOKORO,C., TAKEDA,S., YAMAGUCHI,M., SAKATA,M. & . (1995) Changes in epidermal growth factor receptor and the levels of its ligands during menstrual cycle in human endometrium. *Biol.Reprod.*, **52**, pp. 928-938.

IZUMI,Y., HIRATA,M., HASUWA,H., IWAMOTO,R., UMATA,T., MIYADO,K., TAMAI,Y., KURISAKI,T., SEHARA-FUJISAWA,A., OHNO,S. & MEKADA,E. (1998) A metalloprotease-disintegrin, MDC9/meltrin-gamma/ADAM9 and PKCdelta are involved in TPA-induced ectodomain shedding of membrane-anchored heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor. *EMBO J.*, **17**, pp. 7260-7272. JACKSON,L.F., QIU,T.H., SUNNARBORG,S.W., CHANG,A., ZHANG,C., PATTERSON,C. & LEE,D.C. (2003) Defective valvulogenesis in HB-EGF and TACEnull mice is associated with aberrant BMP signaling. *EMBO J.*, **22**, pp. 2704-2716.

JAMES,R. & BRADSHAW,R.A. (1984) Polypeptide growth factors. *Annu.Rev.Biochem.*, **53**, pp. 259-292.

JUNIER, M.P. (2000) What role(s) for TGFalpha in the central nervous system? *Prog.Neurobiol.*, **62**, pp. 443-473.

JUNIER,M.P., MA,Y.J., COSTA,M.E., HOFFMAN,G., HILL,D.F. & OJEDA,S.R. (1991) Transforming growth factor alpha contributes to the mechanism by which hypothalamic injury induces precocious puberty. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **88**, pp. 9743-9747.

KALLINCOS,N.C., XIAN,C.J., DUNBAR,A.J., COUPER,R.T. & READ,L.C. (2000) Cloning of rat betacellulin and characterization of its expression in the gastrointestinal tract. *Growth Factors*, **18**, pp. 203-213.

KASER,M.R., LAKSHMANAN,J. & FISHER,D.A. (1992) Comparison between epidermal growth factor, transforming growth factor-alpha and EGF receptor levels in regions of adult rat brain. *Brain Res.Mol.Brain Res.*, **16**, pp. 316-322.

KLAPPER,L.N., KIRSCHBAUM,M.H., SELA,M. & YARDEN,Y. (2000) Biochemical and clinical implications of the ErbB/HER signaling network of growth factor receptors. *Adv.Cancer Res.*, **77**, pp. 25-79.

KLONISCH,T., WOLF,P., HOMBACH-KLONISCH,S., VOGT,S., KUECHENHOFF,A., TETENS,F. & FISCHER,B. (2001) Epidermal growth factor-like ligands and erbB genes in the peri-implantation rabbit uterus and blastocyst. *Biol.Reprod.*, **64**, pp. 1835-1844.

KOJIMA,H., FUJIMIYA,M., MATSUMURA,K., YOUNAN,P., IMAEDA,H., MAEDA,M. & CHAN,L. (2003) NeuroD-betacellulin gene therapy induces islet neogenesis in the liver and reverses diabetes in mice. *Nat.Med.*, **9**, pp. 596-603.

KRAUS,M.H., ISSING,W., MIKI,T., POPESCU,N.C. & AARONSON,S.A. (1989) Isolation and characterization of ERBB3, a third member of the ERBB/epidermal growth factor receptor family: evidence for overexpression in a subset of human mammary tumors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **86**, pp. 9193-9197.

LEACH,R.E., KHALIFA,R., RAMIREZ,N.D., DAS,S.K., WANG,J., DEY,S.K., ROMERO,R. & ARMANT,D.R. (1999) Multiple roles for heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor are suggested by its cell-specific expression during the human endometrial cycle and early placentation. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab*, **84**, pp. 3355-3363.

LEE,K.Y. & DEMAYO,F.J. (2004) Animal models of implantation. *Reproduction.*, **128**, pp. 679-695.

LESSEY,B.A., GUI,Y., APPARAO,K.B., YOUNG,S.L. & MULHOLLAND,J. (2002) Regulated expression of heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF) in the

human endometrium: a potential paracrine role during implantation. *Mol.Reprod.Dev.*, **62**, pp. 446-455.

LI,W.C., HORB,M.E., TOSH,D. & SLACK,J.M. (2005) In vitro transdifferentiation of hepatoma cells into functional pancreatic cells. *Mech.Dev.*, **122**, pp. 835-847.

LIM,H., DAS,S.K. & DEY,S.K. (1998) erbB genes in the mouse uterus: cell-specific signaling by epidermal growth factor (EGF) family of growth factors during implantation. *Dev.Biol.*, **204**, pp. 97-110.

LIM,H., SONG,H., PARIA,B.C., REESE,J., DAS,S.K. & DEY,S.K. (2002) Molecules in blastocyst implantation: uterine and embryonic perspectives. *Vitam.Horm.*, **64**, pp. 43-76.

LIU,A., FLORES,C., KINKEAD,T., CARBONI,A.A., MENON,M. & SEETHALAKSHMI,L. (1994) Effects of sialoadenectomy and epidermal growth factor on testicular function of sexually mature male mice. *J.Urol.*, **152**, pp. 554-561.

LUETTEKE,N.C., QIU,T.H., FENTON,S.E., TROYER,K.L., RIEDEL,R.F., CHANG,A. & LEE,D.C. (1999) Targeted inactivation of the EGF and amphiregulin genes reveals distinct roles for EGF receptor ligands in mouse mammary gland development. *Development*, **126**, pp. 2739-2750.

MA,Y.J., DISSEN,G.A., MERLINO,G., COQUELIN,A. & OJEDA,S.R. (1994) Overexpression of a human transforming growth factor-alpha (TGF alpha) transgene reveals a dual antagonistic role of TGF alpha in female sexual development. *Endocrinology*, **135**, pp. 1392-1400.

MA,Y.J., JUNIER,M.P., COSTA,M.E. & OJEDA,S.R. (1992) Transforming growth factor-alpha gene expression in the hypothalamus is developmentally regulated and linked to sexual maturation. *Neuron*, **9**, pp. 657-670.

MACLUSKY, N.J. & NAFTOLIN, F. (1981) Sexual differentiation of the central nervous system. *Science*, **211**, pp. 1294-1302.

MARTIN,K.L., BARLOW,D.H. & SARGENT,I.L. (1998) Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor significantly improves human blastocyst development and hatching in serum-free medium. *Hum.Reprod.*, **13**, pp. 1645-1652.

MARUO,T., MATSUO,H. & MOCHIZUKI,M. (1991) Thyroid hormone as a biological amplifier of differentiated trophoblast function in early pregnancy. *Acta Endocrinol.(Copenh)*, **125**, pp. 58-66.

MARUO,T., MURATA,K., MATSUO,H., SAMOTO,T. & MOCHIZUKI,M. (1995) Insulin-like growth factor-I as a local regulator of proliferation and differentiated function of the human trophoblast in early pregnancy. *Early Pregnancy.*, **1**, pp. 54-61.

MASHIMA,H., OHNISHI,H., WAKABAYASHI,K., MINE,T., MIYAGAWA,J., HANAFUSA,T., SENO,M., YAMADA,H. & KOJIMA,I. (1996) Betacellulin and activin A coordinately convert amylase-secreting pancreatic AR42J cells into insulin-secreting cells. *J.Clin.Invest*, **97**, pp. 1647-1654. MASSAGUE, J. & PANDIELLA, A. (1993) Membrane-anchored growth factors. *Annu.Rev.Biochem.*, **62**, pp. 515-541.

MOLLER, B., RASMUSSEN, C., LINDBLOM, B. & OLOVSSON, M. (2001) Expression of the angiogenic growth factors VEGF, FGF-2, EGF and their receptors in normal human endometrium during the menstrual cycle. *Mol.Hum.Reprod.*, **7**, pp. 65-72.

MULLANEY, B.P. & SKINNER, M.K. (1992) Transforming growth factor-alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor gene expression and action during pubertal development of the seminiferous tubule. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **6**, pp. 2103-2113.

NELSON, J.F., KARELUS, K., FELICIO, L.S. & JOHNSON, T.E. (1990) Genetic influences on the timing of puberty in mice. *Biol. Reprod.*, **42**, pp. 649-655.

NELSON,K.G., TAKAHASHI,T., BOSSERT,N.L., WALMER,D.K. & MCLACHLAN,J.A. (1991) Epidermal growth factor replaces estrogen in the stimulation of female genital-tract growth and differentiation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **88**, pp. 21-25.

NORWITZ, E.R., SCHUST, D.J. & FISHER, S.J. (2001) Implantation and the survival of early pregnancy. *N.Engl.J.Med.*, **345**, pp. 1400-1408.

OJEDA,S.R. & MA,Y.J. (1998) Epidermal growth factor tyrosine kinase receptors and the neuroendocrine control of mammalian puberty. *Mol.Cell Endocrinol.*, **140**, pp. 101-106.

OJEDA,S.R., MA,Y.J., LEE,B.J. & PREVOT,V. (2000) Glia-to-neuron signaling and the neuroendocrine control of female puberty. *Recent Prog.Horm.Res.*, **55**, pp. 197-223.

OJEDA,S.R., PREVOT,V., HEGER,S., LOMNICZI,A., DZIEDZIC,B. & MUNGENAST,A. (2003) Glia-to-neuron signaling and the neuroendocrine control of female puberty. *Ann.Med.*, **35**, pp. 244-255.

PAN,B., SENGOKU,K., TAKUMA,N., GOISHI,K., HORIKAWA,M., TAMATE,K. & ISHIKAWA,M. (2004) Differential expression of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor in the rat ovary. *Mol.Cell Endocrinol.*, **214**, pp. 1-8.

PARIA,B.C., DAS,S.K., ANDREWS,G.K. & DEY,S.K. (1993a) Expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene is regulated in mouse blastocysts during delayed implantation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **90**, pp. 55-59.

PARIA,B.C., DAS,S.K., MEAD,R.A. & DEY,S.K. (1994) Expression of epidermal growth factor receptor in the preimplantation uterus and blastocyst of the western spotted skunk. *Biol.Reprod.*, **51**, pp. 205-213.

PARIA,B.C. & DEY,S.K. (1990) Preimplantation embryo development in vitro: cooperative interactions among embryos and role of growth factors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **87**, pp. 4756-4760.

PARIA,B.C., ELENIUS,K., KLAGSBRUN,M. & DEY,S.K. (1999) Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor interacts with mouse blastocysts independently of ErbB1: a possible role for heparan sulfate proteoglycans and ErbB4 in blastocyst implantation. *Development*, **126**, pp. 1997-2005.

PARIA,B.C., HUET-HUDSON,Y.M. & DEY,S.K. (1993b) Blastocyst's state of activity determines the "window" of implantation in the receptive mouse uterus. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **90**, pp. 10159-10162.

PARIA,B.C., LIM,H., DAS,S.K., REESE,J. & DEY,S.K. (2000) Molecular signaling in uterine receptivity for implantation. *Semin.Cell Dev.Biol.*, **11**, pp. 67-76.

PARIA,B.C., MA,W., TAN,J., RAJA,S., DAS,S.K., DEY,S.K. & HOGAN,B.L. (2001) Cellular and molecular responses of the uterus to embryo implantation can be elicited by locally applied growth factors. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **98**, pp. 1047-1052.

PARIA,B.C., REESE,J., DAS,S.K. & DEY,S.K. (2002) Deciphering the cross-talk of implantation: advances and challenges. *Science*, **296**, pp. 2185-2188.

PARK,J.Y., SU,Y.Q., ARIGA,M., LAW,E., JIN,S.L. & CONTI,M. (2004) EGF-like growth factors as mediators of LH action in the ovulatory follicle. *Science*, **303**, pp. 682-684.

PATHAK,B.G., GILBERT,D.J., HARRISON,C.A., LUETTEKE,N.C., CHEN,X., KLAGSBRUN,M., PLOWMAN,G.D., COPELAND,N.G., JENKINS,N.A. & LEE,D.C. (1995) Mouse chromosomal location of three EGF receptor ligands: amphiregulin (Areg), betacellulin (Btc), and heparin-binding EGF (Hegfl). *Genomics*, **28**, pp. 116-118.

PENG,X.R., HSUEH,A.J., LAPOLT,P.S., BJERSING,L. & NY,T. (1991) Localization of luteinizing hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in ovarian cell types during follicle development and ovulation. *Endocrinology*, **129**, pp. 3200-3207.

PESCHON, J.J., SLACK, J.L., REDDY, P., STOCKING, K.L., SUNNARBORG, S.W., LEE, D.C., RUSSELL, W.E., CASTNER, B.J., JOHNSON, R.S., FITZNER, J.N., BOYCE, R.W., NELSON, N., KOZLOSKY, C.J., WOLFSON, M.F., RAUCH, C.T., CERRETTI, D.P., PAXTON, R.J., MARCH, C.J. & BLACK, R.A. (1998) An essential role for ectodomain shedding in mammalian development. *Science*, **282**, pp. 1281-1284.

PFEIFFER,D., SPRANGER,J., AL DEIRI,M., KIMMIG,R., FISSELER-ECKHOFF,A., SCHEIDEL,P., SCHATZ,H., JENSEN,A. & PFEIFFER,A. (1997) mRNA expression of ligands of the epidermal-growth-factor-receptor in the uterus. *Int.J.Cancer*, **72**, pp. 581-586.

PLATA-SALAMAN,C.R. (1991) Epidermal growth factor and the nervous system. *Peptides*, **12**, pp. 653-663.

PLOWMAN,G.D., CULOUSCOU,J.M., WHITNEY,G.S., GREEN,J.M., CARLTON,G.W., FOY,L., NEUBAUER,M.G. & SHOYAB,M. (1993) Ligand-specific activation of HER4/p180erbB4, a fourth member of the epidermal growth factor receptor family. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **90**, pp. 1746-1750.

PREVOT,V., LOMNICZI,A., CORFAS,G. & OJEDA,S.R. (2005) erbB-1 and erbB-4 receptors act in concert to facilitate female sexual development and mature reproductive function. *Endocrinology*, **146**, pp. 1465-1472.

PREVOT, V., RIO, C., CHO, G.J., LOMNICZI, A., HEGER, S., NEVILLE, C.M., ROSENTHAL, N.A., OJEDA, S.R. & CORFAS, G. (2003) Normal female sexual

development requires neuregulin-erbB receptor signaling in hypothalamic astrocytes. *J.Neurosci.*, **23**, pp. 230-239.

PSYCHOYOS, A. (1973) Hormonal control of ovoimplantation. *Vitam.Horm.*, **31**, pp. 201-256.

RAAB,G., KOVER,K., PARIA,B.C., DEY,S.K., EZZELL,R.M. & KLAGSBRUN,M. (1996) Mouse preimplantation blastocysts adhere to cells expressing the transmembrane form of heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor. *Development*, **122**, pp. 637-645.

REESE, J., DAS, S.K., PARIA, B.C., LIM, H., SONG, H., MATSUMOTO, H., KNUDTSON, K.L., DUBOIS, R.N. & DEY, S.K. (2001) Global gene expression analysis to identify molecular markers of uterine receptivity and embryo implantation. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **276**, pp. 44137-44145.

RICHARDS, J.S. (1994) Hormonal control of gene expression in the ovary. *Endocr. Rev.*, **15**, pp. 725-751.

RICHARDS, J.S., FITZPATRICK, S.L., CLEMENS, J.W., MORRIS, J.K., ALLISTON, T. & SIROIS, J. (1995) Ovarian cell differentiation: a cascade of multiple hormones, cellular signals, and regulated genes. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.*, **50**, pp. 223-254.

RICHARDS, J.S., RUSSELL, D.L., OCHSNER, S., HSIEH, M., DOYLE, K.H., FALENDER, A.E., LO, Y.K. & SHARMA, S.C. (2002) Novel signaling pathways that control ovarian follicular development, ovulation, and luteinization. *Recent Prog.Horm.Res.*, **57**, pp. 195-220.

RICHARDS,R.C., LEWIS-JONES,D.I., WALKER,J.M. & DESMOND,A.D. (1988) Epidermal growth factor (urogastrone) in human seminal plasma from fertile and infertile males. *Fertil.Steril.*, **50**, pp. 640-643.

SAHIN,U., WESKAMP,G., KELLY,K., ZHOU,H.M., HIGASHIYAMA,S., PESCHON,J., HARTMANN,D., SAFTIG,P. & BLOBEL,C.P. (2004) Distinct roles for ADAM10 and ADAM17 in ectodomain shedding of six EGFR ligands. *J.Cell Biol.*, **164**, pp. 769-779.

SASADA,R., ONO,Y., TANIYAMA,Y., SHING,Y., FOLKMAN,J. & IGARASHI,K. (1993) Cloning and expression of cDNA encoding human betacellulin, a new member of the EGF family. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.*, **190**, pp. 1173-1179.

SAVAGE, C.R., JR., HASH, J.H. & COHEN, S. (1973) Epidermal growth factor. Location of disulfide bonds. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **248**, pp. 7669-7672.

SCHLAFKE,S. & ENDERS,A.C. (1975) Cellular basis of interaction between trophoblast and uterus at implantation. *Biol.Reprod.*, **12**, pp. 41-65.

SCHLESSINGER, J. (2000) Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell*, **103**, pp. 211-225.

SCHLESSINGER, J. & ULLRICH, A. (1992) Growth factor signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Neuron*, **9**, pp. 383-391.

SCHNEIDER,M.R., DAHLHOFF,M., HERBACH,N., RENNER-MUELLER,I., DALKE,C., PUK,O., GRAW,J., WANKE,R. & WOLF,E. (2005) Betacellulin overexpression in transgenic mice causes disproportionate growth, pulmonary hemorrhage syndrome, and complex eye pathology. *Endocrinology*, **146**, pp. 5237-5246.

SCHNEIDER, M.R., LAHM, H., WU, M., HOEFLICH, A. & WOLF, E. (2000) Transgenic mouse models for studying the functions of insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins. *FASEB J.*, **14**, pp. 629-640.

SENO,M., TADA,H., KOSAKA,M., SASADA,R., IGARASHI,K., SHING,Y., FOLKMAN,J., UEDA,M. & YAMADA,H. (1996) Human betacellulin, a member of the EGF family dominantly expressed in pancreas and small intestine, is fully active in a monomeric form. *Growth Factors*, **13**, pp. 181-191.

SHIMADA,M., HERNANDEZ-GONZALEZ,I., GONZALEZ-ROBAYNA,I. & RICHARDS,J.S. (2006) Paracrine and autocrine regulation of epidermal growth factor-like factors in cumulus oocyte complexes and granulosa cells: key roles for prostaglandin synthase 2 and progesterone receptor. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **20**, pp. 1352-1365.

SHING,Y., CHRISTOFORI,G., HANAHAN,D., ONO,Y., SASADA,R., IGARASHI,K. & FOLKMAN,J. (1993) Betacellulin: a mitogen from pancreatic beta cell tumors. *Science*, **259**, pp. 1604-1607.

SHOYAB,M., MCDONALD,V.L., BRADLEY,J.G. & TODARO,G.J. (1988) Amphiregulin: a bifunctional growth-modulating glycoprotein produced by the phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate-treated human breast adenocarcinoma cell line MCF-7. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **85**, pp. 6528-6532.

SPORN,M.B. & ROBERTS,A.B. (1986) Peptide growth factors and inflammation, tissue repair, and cancer. *J.Clin.Invest*, **78**, pp. 329-332.

SPORN,M.B. & ROBERTS,A.B. (1988) Peptide growth factors are multifunctional. *Nature*, **332**, pp. 217-219.

SRINIVASAN,R., BENTON,E., MCCORMICK,F., THOMAS,H. & GULLICK,W.J. (1999) Expression of the c-erbB-3/HER-3 and c-erbB-4/HER-4 growth factor receptors and their ligands, neuregulin-1 alpha, neuregulin-1 beta, and betacellulin, in normal endometrium and endometrial cancer. *Clin.Cancer Res.*, **5**, pp. 2877-2883.

STRACHAN,L., MURISON,J.G., PRESTIDGE,R.L., SLEEMAN,M.A., WATSON,J.D. & KUMBLE,K.D. (2001) Cloning and biological activity of epigen, a novel member of the epidermal growth factor superfamily. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **276**, pp. 18265-18271.

TADA,H., SASADA,R., KAWAGUCHI,Y., KOJIMA,I., GULLICK,W.J., SALOMON,D.S., IGARASHI,K., SENO,M. & YAMADA,H. (1999) Processing and juxtacrine activity of membrane-anchored betacellulin. *J.Cell Biochem.*, **72**, pp. 423-434.

TADA,H., SENO,M., YAMADA,H., SASADA,R. & IGARASHI,K. (2000) Molecular cloning and expression of rat betacellulin cDNA. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta*, **1492**, pp. 285-288.

TAMADA,H., DAS,S.K., ANDREWS,G.K. & DEY,S.K. (1991) Cell-type-specific expression of transforming growth factor-alpha in the mouse uterus during the periimplantation period. *Biol.Reprod.*, **45**, pp. 365-372.

TAYLOR, J.M., COHEN, S. & MITCHELL, W.M. (1970) Epidermal growth factor: high and low molecular weight forms. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **67**, pp. 164-171.

THREADGILL,D.W., DLUGOSZ,A.A., HANSEN,L.A., TENNENBAUM,T., LICHTI,U., YEE,D., LAMANTIA,C., MOURTON,T., HERRUP,K., HARRIS,R.C. & . (1995) Targeted disruption of mouse EGF receptor: effect of genetic background on mutant phenotype. *Science*, **269**, pp. 230-234.

TOUSSEYN,T., JORISSEN,E., REISS,K. & HARTMANN,D. (2006) (Make) stick and cut loose--disintegrin metalloproteases in development and disease. *Birth Defects Res.C.Embryo.Today*, **78**, pp. 24-46.

TOYODA,H., KOMURASAKI,T., IKEDA,Y., YOSHIMOTO,M. & MORIMOTO,S. (1995) Molecular cloning of mouse epiregulin, a novel epidermal growth factor-related protein, expressed in the early stage of development. *FEBS Lett.*, **377**, pp. 403-407.

TOYODA,H., KOMURASAKI,T., UCHIDA,D. & MORIMOTO,S. (1997) Distribution of mRNA for human epiregulin, a differentially expressed member of the epidermal growth factor family. *Biochem.J.*, **326 (Pt 1)**, pp. 69-75.

TSUTSUMI,O., KURACHI,H. & OKA,T. (1986) A physiological role of epidermal growth factor in male reproductive function. *Science*, **233**, pp. 975-977.

ULLRICH,A., COUSSENS,L., HAYFLICK,J.S., DULL,T.J., GRAY,A., TAM,A.W., LEE,J., YARDEN,Y., LIBERMANN,T.A., SCHLESSINGER,J. & . (1984) Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. *Nature*, **309**, pp. 418-425.

VAN DER,G.P., HUNTER,T. & LINDBERG,R.A. (1994) Receptor protein-tyrosine kinases and their signal transduction pathways. *Annu.Rev.Cell Biol.*, **10**, pp. 251-337.

WAHAB-WAHLGREN,A., MARTINELLE,N., HOLST,M., JAHNUKAINEN,K., PARVINEN,M. & SODER,O. (2003) EGF stimulates rat spermatogonial DNA synthesis in seminiferous tubule segments in vitro. *Mol.Cell Endocrinol.*, **201**, pp. 39-46.

WATADA,H., KAJIMOTO,Y., MIYAGAWA,J., HANAFUSA,T., HAMAGUCHI,K., MATSUOKA,T., YAMAMOTO,K., MATSUZAWA,Y., KAWAMORI,R. & YAMASAKI,Y. (1996) PDX-1 induces insulin and glucokinase gene expressions in alphaTC1 clone 6 cells in the presence of betacellulin. *Diabetes*, **45**, pp. 1826-1831.

WATANABE,T., SHINTANI,A., NAKATA,M., SHING,Y., FOLKMAN,J., IGARASHI,K. & SASADA,R. (1994) Recombinant human betacellulin. Molecular structure, biological activities, and receptor interaction. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **269**, pp. 9966-9973.

WILEY,L.M., WU,J.X., HARARI,I. & ADAMSON,E.D. (1992) Epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA and protein increase after the four-cell preimplantation stage in murine development. *Dev.Biol.*, **149**, pp. 247-260.

WOLF, E., SCHNEIDER, M.R., ZHOU, R., FISCH, T.M., HERBACH, N., DAHLHOFF, M., WANKE, R. & HOEFLICH, A. (2005) Functional consequences of IGFBP excesslessons from transgenic mice. *Pediatr.Nephrol.*, **20**, pp. 269-278.

WONG,R.W., KWAN,R.W., MAK,P.H., MAK,K.K., SHAM,M.H. & CHAN,S.Y. (2000) Overexpression of epidermal growth factor induced hypospermatogenesis in transgenic mice. *J.Biol.Chem.*, **275**, pp. 18297-18301.

WOODS,D.C. & JOHNSON,A.L. (2006) Phosphatase Activation by EGF Family Ligands Regulates Erk Signaling in Undifferentiated Hen Granulosa Cells. *Endocrinology*.

YAMAMOTO,K., MIYAGAWA,J., WAGURI,M., SASADA,R., IGARASHI,K., LI,M., NAMMO,T., MORIWAKI,M., IMAGAWA,A., YAMAGATA,K., NAKAJIMA,H., NAMBA,M., TOCHINO,Y., HANAFUSA,T. & MATSUZAWA,Y. (2000) Recombinant human betacellulin promotes the neogenesis of beta-cells and ameliorates glucose intolerance in mice with diabetes induced by selective alloxan perfusion. *Diabetes*, **49**, pp. 2021-2027.

YAMAMOTO,T., IKAWA,S., AKIYAMA,T., SEMBA,K., NOMURA,N., MIYAJIMA,N., SAITO,T. & TOYOSHIMA,K. (1986) Similarity of protein encoded by the human cerb-B-2 gene to epidermal growth factor receptor. *Nature*, **319**, pp. 230-234.

YAN,C., WANG,P., DEMAYO,J., DEMAYO,F.J., ELVIN,J.A., CARINO,C., PRASAD,S.V., SKINNER,S.S., DUNBAR,B.S., DUBE,J.L., CELESTE,A.J. & MATZUK,M.M. (2001) Synergistic roles of bone morphogenetic protein 15 and growth differentiation factor 9 in ovarian function. *Mol.Endocrinol.*, **15**, pp. 854-866.

YAN,Y.C., SUN,Y.P. & ZHANG,M.L. (1998) Testis epidermal growth factor and spermatogenesis. *Arch.Androl*, **40**, pp. 133-146.

YARDEN,Y. & SLIWKOWSKI,M.X. (2001) Untangling the ErbB signalling network. *Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol.*, **2**, pp. 127-137.

YOSHINO,O., MCMAHON,H.E., SHARMA,S. & SHIMASAKI,S. (2006) A unique preovulatory expression pattern plays a key role in the physiological functions of BMP-15 in the mouse. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A*, **103**, pp. 10678-10683.

ZHU,Y. & JONES,F.E. (2004) The ErbB signaling network is coordinately expressed and activated in the mouse prostate. *Prostate*, **60**, pp. 68-75.
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Eckhard Wolf, for allowing me to carry out this research work at the Gene Center of the Ludwig-Maximilians University of Munich. His constant advice and support were decisive in guiding this work.

Special thanks to my mentor, Dr. Marlon R. Schneider, who introduced me to molecular biology and mentored the execution of this work. His support, encouragement, attention and patience were very important to me. Thank you!

I am particularly grateful to all present members of the Gene Center, especially Ingrid Renner-Müller, Petra Renner, Tanja Mittmann, Maik Dahlhoff and Steffen Schiller for their help in the execution of the experiments and their attention.

I am very thankful to Prof. Dr. Sinowatz and Dr. Kenngot (Institute of Veterinary Anatomy) for their support with the immunohistochemistry and Dr. Auke Boersma (GSF) for the support with the sperm analysis.

Special thanks to my mother, Maria do Carmo Gratão, for her support during all my life.

I am extremely thankful to my husband, Rudah Brentano Assef, for his help, encouragement, patient and love during all stages of this work.

Many thanks also to my dear friend Martina Fritsch for her encouragement.

The financial support from the CAPES in form a fellowship is also acknowledged.

Personal Information:

Name: Ana Angélica Gratão Date of Birth: 14/11/1974 Place of Birth: Ipameri, GO, Brazil Nationality: Brazilian

Education:

1979 - 1988	Primary School in Anápolis, Goiás, Brazil.
1989 -1991	Secondary School in Anápolis, Goiás, Brazil.
1992 - 1997	Study of Veterinary Medicine at the Federal University of Goiás, (UFG), Brazil.
1998 - 2000	M.Sc. , Animal Reproduction, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Brazil.
2005 - 2007	Dr. med.vet ., Gene Center of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University (LMU), Munich, Germany

<u>Grants</u>

09/1996 – 02/1997	Graduate Research Grant of the Superior School of Agriculture in Angers (ESA), French.
1998 – 2000	Postgraduate Research Grant of the CAPES, Department of Animal Reproduction (UFRGS).
12/2004 – 03/2005	Preparatory Language Course Grant of the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), Institute Goethe, Dresden.
04/2005 – 03/2007	Postgraduate Research Grant of the CAPES, Gene Center of the LMU-Munich.